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WVARREN

CITY CONTROLLER’S OFFICE

One City SauaRre, Suite 425
WaRREN, MI 48093-5289
(586) 574-4600
Fax (586) 574-4614
www.cityofwarren.org
December 15, 2009

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council
and Citizens of the City of Warren

in accordance with City Charter and State Statue, the City of Warren is required to publish a complete set of financial
statements presented in conformance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audited by a licensed
certified public accounting firm in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Pursuant to those requirements,
the City Controller's Office hereby submits the comprehensive annual financial report of the City of Warren for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2009.

This report consists of management's representations concerning the finances of the City. Consequently, management
assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all the information presented in this report. To provide a
reasonable basis for making these representations, management has established a framework of internal controls that is
designed to both protect the City's assets and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the City's
financial statements in conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not cutweigh their benefits, the
framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the financiat
statements are free of material misstatement. As management, we assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this
financial report is complete and reliable in all material respects.

The City's financial statements have been audited by the certified public accounting firm of Ramie E. Phillips, Jr., P.C. The
purpose of an independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the City’s financial statements for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2009 are free of material misstatement. The independent audit involves examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used; and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. The City’s financial statements have received an “unqualified opinion” from the
independent auditor. An unqualified opinion is the best opinion an organization can receive. It indicates that the auditor's
examination has disclosed no conditions that cause them to believe that the financial statements are not fairly stated in all
material respects. The independent auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.

GAAP require that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial
statements in the form of Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to
compliment MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The MD&A can be found immediately following the independent
auditor’s report.

General Information

The City of Warren was incorporated as a home rule City on January 1, 1857. The City is governed by a nine member
Council, Mayor, Treasurer and City Clerk, all of whom are elected to a maximum of three four-year terms. The City
encompasses 34.5 square miles (22,080 acres) of the southwestern section of Macomb County where it is adjacent to the
City of Detroit. The City's boundaries are Eight Mile Road on the south, Fourteen Mile Road on the north, Dequindre Road on
the west and a paralle! line running due north from the Gratiot-Eight Mile Road intersection on the east. With a population of
138,247 (2000 census figure), Warren remains the third largest city in the State of Michigan.

Warren is an area rich with ethnic flavor and charm. We are proud of our community, from its rural beginnings to its

phenomenal growth and its unigue blend of industrial innovation, residential comfort, and educaticnal and cultural
opportunities.
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General Information (continued)

With over 4,000 businesses, Warren has a diverse business climate and was ranked 2" i Michigan for Best Places to do
Business (2006) by Forbes Magazine. Unquestionably contributing to the economic vitality of the City is the presence of
General Motors Corporation and Chrysler Corporation automotive facilities. Warren is proud to be the home of General Motors
Technical Center, a 330-acre complex housing General Motors Corporation staff operations; research laboratories,
engineering, and design. General Motors Corporation also operates the Hydramatic Plant on a 117-acre site within the city.
Daimler-Chrysler Corporation has three major facilities in Warren. Occupying a 224-acre site, this complex includes an
assembly plant, a stamping plant and a paint plant. The presence of General Motors Corporation and Daimler-Chrysler
Corporation represents approximately 18.29% of the City’s taxable value. In the past year, 10 new commercial development
permits, 1 new industrial permit and 12 single-family/multiple-dwelling residential permits were issued representing $17.1
million of additional investment in the City.

The South Campus of Macomb Community College, the state's third largest college, is a public college located on a 100-acre
site on Twelve Mile Road. Macomb Community College is one of the nation’s leading community colleges, providing learning
experiences to more than 59,000 students annually. Macomb ranks nationally in the top two percent in the number of
associate's degrees awarded and as the largest grantor of associate's degrees in Michigan. The college’s comprehensive
educational programming includes pre-college experiences, university transfer and career preparation programs, bachelor's
degree completion and graduate degree programs, workforce training, professional and continuing education and enrichment
opportunities. Davenport University also operates a facility in Warren and is one of the few private universities offering
baccalaureate and masters degree programs focused exclusively on business and technology and the integration of both into
health care professions.

Protecting the lives and property of Warren's citizens is the mission of our public safety departments. The Fire Department
strives to ensure that the best fire extinguishment and emergency medical service is available to service the community. The
Police Department operates an Emergency 911 system, in-vehicle wireless communications and a high tech mobile command
center to afford residents the quickest possible response to any emergency situation. This continual investment in equipment,
facilities and personnel has resulted in Warren having one of the lowest crime rates in the nation for a city of over 100,000
people.

The mission of the Warren Public Library is to improve the quality of life for the citizens of Warren by providing services and
resources that promote educational, cultural, social and economic well being. The library strives to be a source of information
for lifetime learning and enjoyment. One of its primary goals is to stimulate young children’s interest in reading and learning
and to encourage literacy among all age groups. The Warren Public Library opened a new Civic Center Library in 2006 and
occupies 35,000 square feet on the main floor of the City Hall building. The Library features a computer lab, self check-out
units, private study rooms and an inviting reading room with fireplace. New services such as after hours book pick-up and a
drive-up book drop are also available. This new centrally located library will benefit all citizens of Warren. Warren also has
three branch libraries, each providing internet access and adaptive devices for the visually impaired. As a member of the
Suburban Library Cooperative, the Warren Libraries provide access for patrons to all library materials in the State of Michigan.

The City of Warren has developed 325 acres into 24 city parks. Halmich Park, the largest of the city parks sits on
approximately 80 acres and has four-lighted baseball diamonds, soccer fields, a concession stand and picnic pavilions. The
City operates three indoor recreational facilities: the Warren Community Center, Owen Jax Recreation Center, and the Stilwell
Manor Senior Drop-In Center. The Warren Community Center opened its doors in 2003. Formerly known as the old “Warren
High School”, the City purchased the then vacant facility and its adjoining 48 acres from the Warren Consolidated School
District and developed it into a state-of-the-art community and recreational centerpiece. The facility houses the Parks and
Recreation, Communications Department and City Council offices as well as the Miller Branch of the Warren Public Library.
The facility operates a year round aquatics center which includes a 150 foot water slide, a lazy river, play structure and lap
pool. In addition there are three gymnasiums, multi-purpose meeting rooms, an auditorium and a fitness center. The exterior
grounds include a lighted football stadium, walking paths and irrigated soccer fields. With grant assistance from the Michigan
Department of Transportation, the Recreation Department continues to offer specialized transportation for seniors and special
populations. The Parks and Recreation Department offers many year-round recreational programs, including baseball,
softball, basketball, volleyball, swimming, bowling, arts and crafts, music, theater and dancing. Programs service pre-school
children to senior citizens. Summer concerts are conducted by the City's Cultural Commission and the Parks and Recreation
Department.

The City’s Public Service Department provides a variety of services to the City’s residents. Amongst these are weekly garbage
collection; street maintenance, including snow and ice removal; building inspections; operation of the Waste Water Treatment
Plant and the Water and Sewer System.

Affordable and safe housing is provided to Warren seniors through the operation of its 366 unit Senior Citizen Housing
Complex.
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Reporting Entity

In conformance with criteria established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), the financial statements
report all the funds of the City and its component units. Component units are separately legal entities for which the primary
government is financially accountable. The component units of the City include the Tax Increment Finance Authority,
Downtown Development Authority, Building Authority and Brownfield Redevelopment Authority. Due to the degree of control
exercised by the primary government, its financial relationship with each component unit and the component unit's benefit to
the primary government, each component is reported in the accompanying financial statements as blended component units.

Report Organization

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report was prepared to meet the needs of a broad spectrum of financial statement
readers and is divided into the following major sections:

Introductory Section. This section introduces the reader to the City of Warren and to this report. Included in this section is a
list of the principal officials, table of contents, this transmittal letter, and the City’s organizational chart.

Financial Section. The independent auditor's report, management’'s discussion and analysis, government-wide financial
statements, fund financial statements, notes to the financial statements and required supplemental information is included
here.

Statistical Section. Although this section contains substantial financial information, these tables differ from financial
statements in that they present some nonaccounting data, encompass more than the current year, and are designed to reflect
social and economic data, financial trends and fiscal capabilities of the City.

Federal and State Projects Funds Compliance Reports. The City is the recipient of a number of federal and state grants.
This section reports to the granting agency how the City has allocated or expended funds relative to the terms and conditions
of the grant.

Accounting Systems, Budgetary and Internal Controls

The City’'s accounting system is organized and operated on a “fund basis”. Each fund is a distinct, self-balancing entity
created to account for all assets, liabilities, financial resources and uses associated with its intended purpose.

Annual balanced budgets are adopted for all the primary government’s General, Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds as
required by the Michigan Public Act 621 of 1978, the Uniform Budgeting and Accounting Act. Althou%h not required, budgets
were formally adopted for the proprietary funds and the Sewage Disposal Plant Expansion and 37" District Court Building
Renovation capital projects funds to assist management in monitoring operations.

The City Council, by resolution, adopted a budget on a budgetary center basis for all city departments, divisions, boards,
commissions and other activities. Budgets for the General, Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds were adopted on the
modified accrual basis of accounting consistent with generally accepted accounting principles.

In developing and evaluating the City's accounting system, consideration is given to the adequacy of internal controls. Internal
control represents the organization’s plan of procedures associated with safeguarding assets and maintaining the integrity of
financial records and consequently is designed to provide reasonable assurance that:

e transactions are executed in accordance with management's general or specific authorization.

e transactions are recorded as necessary (1) to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles, or any other criteria, such as finance-related legal and contractual
compliance requirements applicable to such statements, and (2) to maintain accountability for assets.

e access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management's authorization.

e the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and
appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences.

We believe that the City's internal accounting controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of
proper recording of financial transactions.

General Governmental Functions

The City provides a full range of municipal services contemplated by statute and charter. This includes police and fire,
sanitation, parks and recreation, libraries, public improvements, planning, zoning and general administrative services. These
activities are accounted for in the Governmental Funds, consisting of the General Fund, Special Revenue Funds, Debt Service
Funds and Capital Project Funds. A description of each fund type and their respective funds is presented below. Significant
variances in revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance compared to the prior fiscal year are discussed below and in
the Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) report that follows.
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The General Fund accounts for all financial resources except those required to be reported in another fund. Information
relative to the General Fund’s revenues and expenditures are shown below:

General Fund Revenues and Other Financing Sources

Increase

Percentage (Decrease)

Amount of Total from 2008
Property taxes $ 64,567,547 68.6% $( 822,831)
Licenses and permits 1,759,663 1.9 68,536

Intergovernmental:

Federal revenue 592,062 0.6 190,487
State revenue 14,228,618 15.1 ( 582,432
Local revenue 727,954 0.8 ( 72,141)
Charges for services 1,096,795 1.2 276,883
Fines and fees 4,600,677 4.9 (  479,116)
Interest on investments 568,188 0.6 ( 2,274,291)
Miscellaneous 5,945,177 6.3 (117,222
Sub-total 94,086,681 100.0 ( 3,812,127)
Settlement agreement - - ( 1,000,000)
Transfers from other funds - - (__120,000)
Total $ 94,086,681 100.0 $( 4,932,127)

While taxable property values decreased in total by $4.0 million compared to the prior year, there was a $34.5 million increase
in the taxable value of IFT and OPRA properties which are taxed at a lower rate, resulting in an overall decrease in general
fund property tax revenues of $0.6 million. Unfortunately, due to the current and sustained housing crisis taxable property
values are projected to decline further over the next few years. There was no change in the property tax rate levied for fiscal
year 2009. License and permit revenues were consistent with the prior year but still 24.4% below where they were in 2007 due
to reductions in construction spending. State shared sales tax revenues for fiscal year 2009 were $546,000 below those for
2008. Even though this only represents a reduction of 3.9% from the prior year, these reduced levels continue to negatively
impact the City’'s operations. Sales Tax distributions in 2008 were the same as 2007 however 2007 revenues were $435,000
less than the prior fiscal year, These follow reductions of $164,000 in fiscal year 2006, $163,000 in fiscal year 2005,
$1,683,000 in fiscal year 2004, $1,036,000 in fiscal year 2003, $1,204,000 in fiscal year 2002, and $490,000 in fiscal year
2001. Cumulatively, this represents a decrease of $5.7 million in current state shared revenue distributions as compared to
distributions received in fiscal year 2000. Even though the City’s balance in cash and cash equivalents only decreased by
7.3% from the prior year, earnings on the City’s investments were 80.0% lower as interest rates plummeted to a historic low of
0.095% in June of 2009 as compared to 2.068% in June of 2008 and 4.930% in June of 2007.

General Fund Expenditures and Other Financing Uses

Increase

Percentage (Decrease)

Amount of Total from 2008
General government $ 25,756,493 26.4% $( 34,126)
Public safety 62,036,856 63.7 ( 237,288)
City development 5,875,287 6.0 785,844
Highways and streets 2,387,939 24 14,538
Recreation and culture 41,567 0.1 ( 4,702)
Debt service 110,517 0.1 -
Sub-total 96,208,659 98.7 524,266
Transfers to other funds 1,238,403 1.3 6,152
Total $ 97,447,062 100.0 $ 530418

General Fund expenditures held steady, increasing only 0.5% from the prior year with only City Development expenditures
showing any significant increase. Within City Development, the following activities contributed to the overall increase: 1.)
Property Maintenance expenditures increased 25.0% as the City stepped up its weed mowing and code enforcement activities,
2.) Building Inspection expenditures increased 18.7% primarily from the effects of multiple retirements within the department,
and 3.) Planning expenditures increased 13.8% primarily from the expense of acquiring tax reverted properties.



Special Revenue Funds

Special revenue funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted to expenditures for
specified purposes. The Special Revenue Funds of the City include:

The Michigan Transportation Operating Funds — Major and Local Roads. Michigan's Act 51 of 1933, as amended,
allocates gas and weight taxes to build and maintain roads, road sides and storm sewers, remove snow and control traffic flow.

The Sanitation, Parks and Recreation, and Library Funds account for the receipt of dedicated property taxes levied and
other resources received specifically for the operation of the respective programs.

The Community Development Block Grant Program makes available federal funds to eligible families through direct
assistance and neighborhood revitalization.

The Home Investment Partnership Fund makes available federal funds to expand the supply of decent and affordable
housing for low and moderate-income households.

The Housing Opportunities for Persons With Aids Fund makes available federal funds to provide eligible families with
decent, safe and affordable housing and related support services.

The Neighborhood Stabilization Program was established as part of the Housing and Economic recovery Act of 2008 to
make available federal funds to provide emergency assistance in the redevelopment of abandoned and foreclosed homes and
residential properties.

The Brownfield Redevelopment Authority was established under Michigan Pubic Act 381 of 1996 to encourage the
redevelopment of blighted, contaminated and functionally obsolete properties by providing economic incentives through tax
increment financing for certain eligible activities.

The Communications Fund was established to account for fees received under provisions of cable television franchise
agreements. These fees are to be used for local programming and certain other uses.

The Rental Ordinance Fund was established to provide regulation and enforcement of minimum residential rental property
standards to protect the health, welfare and safety of the occupants, the property owners and the community. Biennial
inspections of residential rental properties are funded through fees collected from the property owners and Community
Development Block Grant funds.

The Vice Crime Confiscation Fund and Drug Forfeiture Fund accounts for funds received from confiscation or restitution
received from vice crime and drug enforcement operations. These funds must be used exclusively for on police operations.

The Police Training Fund accounts for receipt of funds from the State of Michigan to be used exclusively for police training.

The Downtown Development Authority Administrative Fund accounts for the receipt of the district's incremental tax
revenues and the payment of the Authority’s debt and operating expenditures.

Changes in fund balances of the Special Revenue Funds are as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Increase
2009 2008 (Decrease)
Fund Fund Over
Balance Balance Prior Year
Michigan Transportation Operating -
Major Roads $ 2,817,902 $ 4,357,661 $(1,539,759)
Local Roads 3,722,231 3,153,917 568,314
Sanitation 4,531,917 6,278,906 (1,746,989)
Recreation 3,619,309 3,521,802 97,507
Library 147,934 442,340 ( 294,406)
Community Development
Block Grant 58,347 33,708 24,639
HOME Investment Partnership 391,492 738,485 ( 346,993)
H.O.P.W.A. 100 100 -
Neighborhood Stabilization Program 100 - 100
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 6,131 246,963 ( 240,832
Communications 2,000,018 1,938,447 61,571
Rental Ordinance Fund 67,735 77,946 ( 10,211)
Vice Crime Confiscations Fund 203,864 209,887 ( 6,023)
Drug Forfeiture Fund 955,725 740,558 215,167
Police Training Fund 137,232 139,561 ( 2,329)
D.D.A. Administrative Fund 10,232,722 9,447,484 785,238
Total $ 28,892,759 $31,327,765 $(2,435,006)

Please refer to the Management’s Discussion and Analysis report for explanation of any significant variances shown above.
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Debt Service Funds and Debt Administration

The debt service funds, unique to governmental funds, are used to account for the accumulation of financial resources for the
periodic payment of principal and interest on long-term debt. Inflows of financial resources from those funds responsible for
the payment of principal and interest are recorded as “operating transfers in”. The actual payment for both principal and
interest to the paying agent are reported as expenditures in the debt service funds. With the exception of the Chapter 20 and
21 Drain Bond Fund and Special Assessment Debt Fund, fund balance in the remaining debt service funds is normally minimal
or non-existent.

GAAP, as it pertains to long-term debt, varies substantially between the governmental funds and proprietary funds. In the
governmental funds, under the modified accrual accounting method, the issuance and payment of long-term debt is reported in
the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance; as it represents receipt and disbursement of current
available financial resources. In the proprietary funds, under the full accrual accounting method, issuance and payment of
long-term debt is reflected on the Statement of Net Assets; as it neither improves nor deteriorates the City’s overall financial
condition.

Principal and interest expenditures reported in the debt service funds for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 as compared to
the prior year is as follows:

Increase
2009 2008 (Decrease)
Chapter 20 and 21 Drain Bonds $ - $ - $ -
Road Construction Bonds 1,990,068 2,143,450 ( 153,382)
Sidewalk Replacement Bonds 250,971 923,298 ( 672,327)
Tax Increment Finance Authority 187,440 214,705 ( 27,265)
Building Authority Bonds 2,022,592 1,999,283 23,309
Downtown Development Authority 4,693,813 4,236,000 457,813
Total $9,144,884 $9,516,736 $( 371,852)

The City’s most current bond ratings as of December 2008 as supplied by Standard and Poors are as follows:

Road Construction Bonds AA
Sidewalk Replacement Bonds AA
Tax Increment Finance Authority Bonds AA
Building Authority Bonds AA
Downtown Development Authority Bonds AA
Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds A

The Mayor, City Council and citizens of Warren can be proud of the City's financial condition, representative of the favorable
ratings from Standard and Poors. Warren's bond ratings indicate that the City’s bonds are of sound investment grade quality,
and that the City has a strong capacity to pay principal and interest when due. In addition, the City’s favorable ratings allow the
City to issue debt at attractive interest rates, providing funds for City services rather than debt service.

For a more comprehensive analysis of the City’s long-term debt, please refer to Note 5 and Note 7 to the financial statements,
as well as the debt service schedules presented in the statistical section.

Capital Projects Funds

Financial resources to be used for the acquisition and/or construction of major capital improvements are accounted for in
Capital Projects Funds. The Capital Projects funds of the City include:

The 37th District Court Building Renovation Fund accounts for the accumulation of court collected fines dedicated towards
the renovation of the 37" District Court Building.

The Special Assessment Funds account for construction programs where the primary source of revenue to fund the project
is special assessments levied against the benefiting properties. The citywide Sidewalk Replacement and Tree Removal
Program are reported as a special assessment fund.

The Michigan Transportation Construction Funds account for major road improvement projects financed through the
issuance of Michigan Transportation Construction Bonds.

The Sewage Disposal Plant Expansion Fund accounts for major capital improvements at the Waste Water Treatment Plant
financed through the sale of general obligation bonds.

The Downtown Development Authority Construction Fund was established pursuant to Act 197 of the Michigan Public
Acts of 1975, as amended, to prevent property value deterioration, eliminate the causes of that deterioration, increase property
tax valuation where possible and improve the economic growth in the business district of the City. The construction fund
accounts for capital expenditures within the district primarily funded through the issuance of development bonds.
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Capital Projects Funds (continued)

The Tax Increment Finance Authority was established pursuant to Act 450 of the Michigan Public Acts of 1980 to prevent
urban deterioration, encourage economic development and historic preservation in the area of the Van Dyke Avenue corridor
between Eight Mile Road and Stephens. Primary sources of revenues to the Authority are in the form of tax increments, and in
addition, the Authority has the power to issue debt.

The Building Authority was established pursuant to the provisions of Act 31 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1948, as
amended, to account for the costs of acquisition, furnishing, and operation of buildings, facilities and site improvement projects
constructed for the benefit of the City. The primary source of revenue to the Authority is the issuance of debt.

Changes in fund balances of the Capital Projects Funds are as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Increase
2009 2008 (Decrease)
Fund Fund Over
Balance Balance Prior Year
Court Building Renovation Fund $ 3,165,648 $ 2,650,692 $ 514,956
Special Assessment Funds 1,937,336 2,156,176 ( 218,840)
Road Construction Funds 7,155,233 3,200,490 3,954,743
Sewage Disposal Plant Expansion - 96,828 ( 96,828)
Downtown Development Authority 2,497,621 2,707,231 ( 209,610)
Tax Increment Finance Authority 1,381,123 1,131,516 249,607
Building Authority 544,061 402,968 141,093
Total 1 1,022 $12,345,901 4 121

A decreasing fund balance in the Capital Projects Funds does not necessarily reflect any inherent weakness. In most cases,
this represents expending resources previously received through the issuance of debt, dedicated towards constructing or
acquiring assets that are capital in nature. Conversely, an increase in fund balance in the Capital Projects Funds generally
denotes an infusion of resources that have not yet been expended for the purpose intended.

Please refer to the Management’s Discussion and Analysis report for explanation of any significant variances shown above.
Proprietary Fund Types
Water and Sewer System

Water and Sewer operations for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008, resulted in operating income of $3,370,284 before
depreciation on operating revenues of $30,465,234. Non-operating items, consisting of interest income and interest expense
on long-term debt, accounted for $1,785,620 of additional expense for a System net gain of $1,584,664 before depreciation.
With the inclusion of non-cash depreciation expense in the amount of $4,279,950, the net System loss for the fiscal year was
$2,695,286.

Prudent management practices should be employed to assure that future operational and debt service costs are met. The
objective should be to generate sufficient revenues to offset the non-cash depreciation expense with such funds appropriated
for long term capital improvements.

Senior Citizen Housing
The operating income for the Senior Citizen Housing complex, net of depreciation in the amount of $258,573, was $559,721
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, on operating revenues of $2,184,011. Operating income net of non-operating
revenues and expenses resulted in net income of $270,940. Net income for fiscal year 2009 was comparable to the previous
fiscal year's operations.

A comprehensive plan promoting development of senior housing in our community is essential. Additional units for our seniors
may be pursued if demand necessitates the construction of another facility.
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Fiduciary Funds
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

The City of Warren sponsors two separate defined benefit single-employer pension plans; the first covering policemen and
firemen under Act 345 of the State of Michigan, while the second system covers all other elected and general "full-time"
employees. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, the City contributed 25.49% and 47.94% respectively of earned payroll
as determined by the City's actuary. Please refer to the notes to the financial statements for a detailed discussion of the plans.
Related schedules of funding progress and contributions are presented as required supplementary information.

Collective bargaining agreements for full-time employees, other than police and fire, include a provision for participation in a
Defined Contribution Plan. All new hires are automatically enrolled in the Defined Contribution Plan. The City contributes ten
percent (10%) of wages on behalf of these employees and the employee is required to make a contribution of four percent
(4%). Employees who were members of the Defined Benefit Plan when the Defined Contribution Plan was adopted were given
the option of transferring to the Defined Contribution Plan. For those employees who elected to transfer, the City contributes
fifteen percent (15%) of wages and the employee is required to make a contribution of three percent (3%).

Recent collective bargaining agreements also address retiree health insurance issues. Prior to these agreements, the City
generally paid 100 percent of the cost of retiree health insurance when an employee was eligible to receive regular service or
deferred retirement benefits. Effective with these contracts, employees hired after ratification may be responsible for payment
of a share of their retiree health insurance dependant upon meeting certain age and service time requirements. The most
recent bargaining agreements have now introduced Health Savings Accounts for new hires. Under this plan, the City
contributes 1% of wages and the employee contributes 1% to 5% of wages into the plan. The City’s post-employment health
benefit obligation terminates upon retirement of the HSA participant.

In an effort to fund the accrued liability for post-employment healthcare benefits, the City has established two Voluntary
Employee Benefit Association (VEBA) Trusts - one administered by the City Employees’ Retirement System, the other
administered by the Police and Fire Retirement System for the benefit of their respective members. The trusts are designed to
accumulate sufficient assets to fund the payment of post retirement health benefits as they become due. Contributions to the
trust are actuarially determined. For fiscal year 2009, contribution rates for the City Employees VEBA Trust and Police and
Fire VEBA Trust were 33.50% and 27.46%, respectively.

CASH MANAGEMENT

Idle cash in all funds, excluding the Pension and VEBA Trust funds, is invested in certificates of deposit, treasury bills and
governmental investment pools. Interest income for the governmental funds and proprietary funds for the current fiscal year
was $1.3 million. Due to the dramatic drop in interest rates as previously described, this represents a decrease of $3.7 million
from the previous fiscal year and a $5.3 million decrease from fiscal year 2007. Interest income recorded in individual funds,
especially capital projects funds, can vary significantly from the prior year depending upon available cash balances.

Due to the amount of cash deposits and the limitations of FDIC insurance coverage, it is impossible to insure all deposits. In
the State of Michigan, municipalities are not required to insure all bank deposits; however, the City evaluates each financial
institution it deposits funds with and assesses the level of risk of each institution. Only those institutions with an acceptable
estimated risk level are used as depositories.

The City instituted a cash management system with Comerica Bank. Comerica is the primary depository for all governmental
and proprietary funds. This program has enabled the City to consolidate accounts, streamline movement of funds between
accounts, maximize investment income and manage the associated costs.

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

The auto industry is the lifeblood of the economy of Southeast Michigan. The City of Warren is no exception to this with the
presence of the General Motors Technical Center and GM and Chrysler manufacturing facilities as well as humerous third-
party suppliers to the auto industry. Though the auto industry has been a solid supporter of the community with property tax
revenue and water and sewer system user fees, its role in the City's financial future is uncertain. The economic recession has
been particularly devastating for this industry. Time will tell whether the combinations of bankruptcy relief, reorganization and
federal assistance will provide a viable foundation from which the auto industry can rebuild.

As the State of Michigan grapples with its own financial woes, reductions in shared revenues from state sales tax collections
have direct impact on City services. It is anticipated that, over time, the State will reduce the allocation to constitutionally
prescribed limits. The City has been able to minimize the impact of prior losses by leaving personnel vacancies unfilled or
eliminating them from budgets. While this has proven effective in the short term, the combination of state revenue sharing,
property tax and interest income losses dictate that the city must perform comprehensive evaluations of service levels required
to meet community needs. A flexible plan to provide community services within available resources must be devised. The
success or failure of any plan will depend on how well community organizations (administrative, legislative, labor and citizen
groups) can work together to meet common goals.
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MAJOR INITIATIVES

With the completion of the new City Hall, complete with attached parking and a two-acre City Square, the Downtown
Development Authority (D.D.A.) has undertaken major redevelopment of the City center area. These facilities serve as the
focal point for community services and events. As the economy recovers, the D.D.A.’s ultimate goal of creating a “Downtown
Warren” will progress with commercial development and high-density residential housing.

There is an ongoing commitment to improve conditions of road surfaces and traffic flows throughout the City. Road projects
are either funded directly by the City utilizing state shared gas and weight taxes or through cooperative efforts with the
Michigan Department of Transportation or Macomb County Road Commission. Road widening and resurfacing projects, as
well as water main and sewer line replacements, are currently underway at various locations.

An aggressive program for replacing broken and hazardous sidewalks and removing nuisance trees continues to be
coordinated by the City. The projects are funded either through Tank Plant Redevelopment Fund resources and/or the
issuance of Special Assessment Bonds.

Future plans, as funds become available, include the construction of a combination police mini-station and neighborhood
library in the southern end of the City, the revamping or construction of senior-oriented recreational facilities at strategic
locations and restoration of emergency transport services.
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R AMIE E. PHILLIPS, JR, wccw

1 1130 TIENKEN COURT, SUITE 100
ROCHESTER HILLS, MICHIGAN 48306
Phone: 248.656.1131
Fax: 248.656.1496
E-mail: rphillips@ramiephillipscpa.com

Independent Auditor's Report
To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council of
the City of Warren, Michigan

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Warren,
Michigan as of and for the year ended June 30, 2009, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed
in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the City of Warren’s management. My
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on my audit. [ did not audit the financial statements of
the Police and Fire Retirement System and the Police and Fire Retirement Health Benefits Plan and Trust, which collectively
represents 69 percent and 81 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the Fiduciary Funds. Those financial statements
were audited by other auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to me, and my opinion, insofar as it relates to the
amounts included for the Police and Fire Retirement System and the Police and Fire Retirement Health Benefit Plan and Trust, is
based on the reports of the other auditors.

I conducted my audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Accounting Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States. Those standards require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. I believe that my audit and the reports
of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for my opinions.

In my opinion, based on my audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements, referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate
discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Warren,
Michigan as of June 30, 2009, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the
year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The management’s discussion and analysis on pages 1 through 12 and the budgetary comparison information on pages 83
through 153 are not a required part of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 1 and the other auditors have applied certain limited procedures,
which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required
supplementary information. However, I did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

My audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the City of
Warren basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, and
statistical tables are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by
U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations,
and is also not a required part of the basic financial statements of the City of Warren. The combining and individual nonmajor
fund financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied by me and the other auditors in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in my opinion, are fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The introductory section and statistical tables
have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, 1
express no opinion on them.

In accordance with Govermment Auditing Standards, 1 have also issued my report dated December 15, 2009, on my
consideration of the City of Warren’s internal control over financial reporting and on my test of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the
scope of my testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide
an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performcd in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of my audit.

M / <
Dece er 15 2009
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R AMIE E. PHILLIPS, JR, wen

1 1130 TIENKEN COURT, SUITE 100
ROCHESTER HILLS, MICHIGAN 48306
Phone: 248.656.1131
Fax: 248.656.1496
E-mail: rphillips@ramiephillipscpa.com

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards

To the Members
of the City Council
City of Warren, Michigan

[ have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely
presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Warren as of and for
the year ended June 30, 2009, which collectively comprise the City of Warren’s basic financial statements and have issued my
report thereon dated December 15, 2009. I conducted my audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United Sates of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing my audit, I considered the City of Warren’s internal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing my auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing my opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Warren’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, I do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Warren’s internal control over financial reporting.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal
course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the City of Warren’s ability to initiate,
authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles such that
there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the City of Warren’s financial statements that is more than
inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the City of Warren’s internal control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected by the City of Warren’s
internal control.

My consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses. [ did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that I consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether City of Warren’s financial statements are free of material misstatement,
I performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance
with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of my audit, and accordingly, I do not express such an
opinion. The results of my test disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the management, Warren City Council, and federal awarding
agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Y i

December 15, 2009
xviii



R AMIE E. PHILLIPS, JR, wcn

1 1130 TIENKEN COURT, SUITE 100
ROCHESTER HILLS, MICHIGAN 48306
Phone: 248.656.1131
Fax: 248.656.1496
E-mail: rphillips@ramiephillipscpa.com

Report on Compliance With Requirements Applicable to Each Major Program
and on Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance With OMB Circular A-133

To the Members
of the City Council
City of Warren, Michigan

Compliance

I have audited the compliance of the City of Warren with the types of compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that are applicable to each of its major federal
programs for the year ended June 30, 2009. The City of Warren’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of
auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to each of its major federal programs is the responsibility of the City of
Warren’s management. My responsibility is to express an opinion on the City of Warren’s compliance based on my audit.

I conducted my audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America;
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those
standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a
major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the City of Warren’s compliance
with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. I believe that
my audit provides a reasonable basis for my opinion. My audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Warren’s
compliance with those requirements.

In my opinion, the City of Warren complied in all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that are applicable
to each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2009.

Internal Controls Over Compliance

The management of the City of Warren is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over compliance
with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal programs. In planning and performing my
audit, I considered the City of Warren’s internal control over compliance with requirements that could have a direct and material
effect on a major federal program in order to determine my auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing my opinion on
compliance and to test and report on the internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133.

XixX



City of Warren, Michigan

My consideration of the internal control over compliance would not necessarily disclose all matters in the internal control that
might be material weaknesses. A material weakness is a reportable condition in which the design or operation of one or more of
the internal control components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that noncompliance with applicable
requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants caused by error or fraud that would be material in relation to a major
federal program being audited may occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions. I noted no matters involving the internal control over compliance and its operation that I
consider to be material weaknesses.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the management, Warren City Council, and federal awarding
agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

December 15, 2009
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CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2009

This section of the City of Warren's annual financial report presents financial performance for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2009. Please read it in conjunction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report and the City’s financial
statements, which follow this section.

The discussion and analysis is designed to (a) assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues, (b) provide an
overview of the City’s financial activity, (c) identify changes in the City’s financial position, (d) identify any material deviations
from the City’s approved budget, and (e) identify individual fund issues or concerns.

Financial Highlights

e The taxable value of real and personal property within the City decreased by $4.0 million from the prior year.
Property tax revenues as reported in the governmental funds were $800,000 less than the previous year. Further
reductions in taxable values are anticipated going forward.

o State shared sales tax distributions were $13.6 million or $546,000 less than what was received in fiscal year 2008.
Even though this only represents a 3.9% reduction from the prior year, current levels are comparatively $5.7 million or
29.5% less than the $19.3 million received in fiscal year 2000. Further reductions are projected for fiscal year 2010.

¢ Interest income as reported in the governmental funds was $3.3 million or 76.7% less than the previous year. Even
though the balance of cash and investments at year end was only $1.2 million less than reported in the previous year,
comparable year-to-year interest rates were 95% lower due to the financial crisis that began in the fall of 2008.

e The City was awarded $200,000 from the Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program.

e Concurrent with the annual reductions in State shared sales tax distributions, the cost of providing employee and
retiree health insurance benefits has risen dramatically over the same period of time. Reversing a multi-year trend,
self-insured medical claims, a single component of the overall health insurance cost, decreased $1.8 million or 8.8%
in fiscal year 2009 as the city contracted with a new carrier. Annual self-insured medical claims alone are currently
$9.2 million or 97.6% higher than was evident just nine years ago, representing an average annual increase of 7.9%.
Partially offsetting the self-insured savings, payments to the city’'s HMO carrier increased $590,000 in the current
year. This continued upward trend in health insurance costs continues to negatively impact departmental budgets as
well as adversely affecting contributions to the VEBA Trusts to fund retiree health insurance.

Overview of the Financial Statements

The City of Warren’s annual report consists of three components: management's discussion and analysis (this section), the
basic financial statements, and required supplementary information. The basic financial statements include two types of
statements that present different views of the City:

e The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and short-term
information about the City’s overall financial status.

e The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of the City’s operations in more
detail than the government-wide financial statements.

- The governmental funds statements tell how general government services such as public safety, recreation
and sanitation were financed in the short term as well as what remains for future spending.

- Proprietary fund statements offer short-term and long-term financial information about the activities the
government operates like businesses, such as the Water and Sewer System and Senior Citizen Housing.

- Fiduciary fund statements provide information about the financial relationships — such as the retirement
plans for City employees — in which the City acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of others, to
whom the resources belong.

The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial statements and provide more
detailed data. The statements are followed by a section of required supplementary information that further explains and
supports the information in the financial statements.



CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2009

Figure A-1 summarizes the major features of the City’s financial statements, including the portion of the City government they
cover and the types of information they contain. The remainder of this overview section of management's discussion and
analysis explains the contents of each of the statements.

Scope

Required financial
statements

Accounting basis
and measurement
focus

Type of asset and
liability information

Type of inflow and
outflow information

Figure A-1

Major Features of the Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

Government-wide
Statements

Entire City government,
except fiduciary funds

* Statement of net assets
e Statement of activities

Accrual accounting and
economic resources focus

All assets and liabilities,
both financial and capital,
and short-term and long-
term

All revenues and
expenses during year,
regardless of when cash
is received or paid

Fund Statements

Governmental Funds

The activities of the City that
are not proprietary or
fiduciary, such as public
safety, recreation and
sanitation

e Balance sheet

o Statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes
in fund balances

Modified accrual accounting
and current financial
resources focus

Only assets expected to be
used up and liabilities that
come due during the year or
soon thereafter; no capital
assets included

Revenues for which cash is
received during or soon
after the end of the year;
expenditures when goods or
services have been received
and payment is due during
the year or soon thereafter

Proprietary Funds

Activities the City operates
similar to private
businesses, such as the
Water and Sewer System
and Senior Citizen Housing

* Statement of net assets

« Statement of revenues,
expenses, and changes
in net assets

* Statement of cash flows

Accrual accounting and
economic resources focus

All assets and liabilities,
both financial and capital,
and short-term and long-
term

All revenues and expenses
during year, regardless of
when cash is received or
paid

Fiduciary Funds

Instances in which the
City is the trustee or
agent for someone else’s
resources, such as the
retirement plans for City
employees

o Statement of fiduciary
net assets

o Statement of changes in
fiduciary net assets

Accrual accounting and
economic resources
focus

All assets and liabilities,
both short-term and long-
term

All revenues and
expenses during year,
regardless of when cash
is received or paid

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to report information about
the City as a whole using accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector companies.

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two

reported as net assets.

Over time, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the

financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. To assess the City’'s overall health, additional non-financial
information such as the City’s property tax base, demographics, and condition of capital assets, including infrastructure also
needs to be considered.
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The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net assets changed during the most recent fiscal year.
All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the
timing of the related cash flows.

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes and
other intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant
portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities)

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 13 — 16 of this report.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have
been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Warren, like other state and local governments, uses fund
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City can be
divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund
financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as balances of spendable
resources available at the end of the fiscal year.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to
compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s
near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds
and governmental activities.

The focus of the new reporting model is on major funds. A major fund is defined as a fund whose revenues, expenditures /
expenses, assets, or liabilities (excluding extraordinary items) are at least 10 percent of corresponding totals for all
governmental or enterprise funds and at least 5 percent of the aggregate amount for all governmental and enterprise funds for
the same item. In addition, any other governmental fund or enterprise fund that management believes is particularly important
to financial statement users (because of public interest or consistency) may be reported as a major fund. The City has elected
to report all governmental and proprietary funds as major funds in the fund financial statements. This election was made to
provide the City's elected officials, department heads, financial administrators and other users a greater degree of detailed
financial information to manage and evaluate the City’s operations.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 17 — 40 of this report.

Proprietary funds. Services for which the City charges customers a fee are generally reported in proprietary funds.
Proprietary funds, like the government-wide statements, provide both long-term and short-term financial information.
Enterprise funds, a type of proprietary fund, are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the
government-wide financial statements, but provide more information and greater detail, such as cash flows. The City uses
enterprise funds to account for its Water and Sewer System and Senior Citizen Housing operations

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 41 — 45 of this report.

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government. For example, the City
is the trustee, or fiduciary, for its employees’ pension and post-employment health insurance plans. All of the City’s fiduciary
activities are reported in a separate statement of fiduciary net assets and a statement of changes in fiduciary net assets. The
accounting method used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the
government-wide financial statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s programs.

The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 46 — 47 of this report.

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the
data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found on
pages 48 — 82 of this report.

Required supplementary information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also
presents budget-to-actual comparisons and information concerning the City's progress in funding its pension and other post-
employment benefit plans. Required supplementary information can be found on pages 83 — 160 of this report.
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Financial Analysis of the City as a Whole

Net assets. As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government'’s financial position. The
City's assets exceeded liabilities by $200.8 million at the close of the most recent fiscal year, a decrease of $8.1 million as
compared to the prior year.

A component of the City’s net assets is its investment in capital assets (52.8 percent), which are reported net of accumulated
depreciation and reduced by any outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these assets to provide
services to citizens and consequently these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay the debt must be provided
from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

Another component of net assets (27.2 percent) represents resources subject to restrictions on their use as imposed by
external parties or enabling legislation. The remaining balance, being unrestricted net assets (20.0 percent), may be used to
meet the City’s ongoing obligations to its citizens and creditors.

Total net assets in the governmental activities decreased during fiscal year 2009 by $5.7 million or 4.4 percent to $123.5
million. Investment in capital assets net of related debt decreased by $8.4 million as compared to the prior year. The primary
reason for the decrease was a realization that $7.0 million of capital assets acquired in a previous fiscal year were in fact
financed through debt proceeds rather than available funds. During the current fiscal year, the City invested $5.2 million in
capital assets and $8.4 million of depreciation was charged against governmental activities. Restricted net assets increased
$6.9 million in the current year. Components of restricted net assets reporting significant changes from the prior year include:
1.) Sanitation decreased $1.7 million primarily from the acquisition of $2.4 million of trucks and packers that were financed
from available funds rather than from debt proceeds, and 2.) Economic Development increased $9.0 million with $7.0 million
attributable to the before mentioned adjustment to investment in capital assets net of related debt. Unrestricted net assets
decreased $4.2 million primarily from general fund operations. Further discussion of the general fund appears later in this
section under the heading of “Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds”.

Total net assets of the business-type activities decreased by $2.4 million or 3.0 percent to $77.3 million. The Water and
Sewer System had a net loss for the year of $2.7 million while the Senior Citizen Housing funds generated net income of
$271,000. Water and Sewer restricted assets decreased $2.3 million; representing the net amount of budgeted appropriations
for capital equipment acquisitions less fiscal year debt service requirements and less fixed asset capitalizations. Unrestricted
net assets decreased $1.2 million from unrestricted net income before depreciation in the amount of $3.5 million less the
before mentioned budget transfer for capital equipment acquisitions in the amount of $4.7 million.

Table A-1
Net Assets
(in millions of dollars)
Total
Governmental Business-type Percentage
Activities Activities Total Change
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2008-2009
Current and other assets $129.8 $125.0 $ 33.0 $ 329 $162.8 $157.9 3.1%
Capital assets 148.8 152.2 113.3 115.1 262.1 267.3 ( 1.99%
Total assets 278.6 277.2 146.3 148.0 424.9 425.2 ( 0.1)%
Long-term liabilities 129.1 128.9 55.1 58.2 184.2 187.1 ( 1.5)%
Other liabilities 26.0 19.1 13.9 10.1 39.9 29.2 36.6%
Total liabilities 155.1 148.0 69.0 68.3 224.1 216.3 3.6%
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt 48.4 56.8 57.7 56.5 106.1 113.3 ( 6.4)%
Restricted 42.9 36.0 11.8 14.1 54.7 50.1 9.2 %
Unrestricted 32.2 36.4 7.8 9.1 40.0 455 (12.1) %
Total net assets 1235 129.2 77.3 79.7 200.8 208.9 ( 39%




Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants

and contributions
Capital grants
and contributions

General revenues:
Property taxes
Other taxes
Other

Total revenues

Expenses:
General government
Public safety
City development
Highways and streets
Recreation and culture
Sanitation
Economic development
Community development
Capital projects
Interest on long-term debt
Water and Sewer System
Senior Citizen Housing

Total expenses

Increase (decrease) in net
assets before transfers

Transfers

Increase (decrease) in
net assets

Net assets — beginning of year

Net assets — end of year
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Table A-2

Changes in Net Assets
(in millions of dollars)

Total

Governmental Business-type Percentage
Activities Activities Total Change
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2008-2009
$ 134 $ 135 $ 327 $ 341 $ 46.1 $ 47.6 ( 3.1)%
11.5 12.2 - - 11.5 12.2 ( 57%
1.7 4.2 - - 1.7 4.2 ( 59.5)%
87.6 88.4 - - 87.6 88.4 ( 0.9%
15.1 15.6 - - 15.1 15.6 ( 3.2)%
0.6 4.3 0.3 0.8 0.9 5.1 ( 82.4)%
129.9 138.2 33.0 34.9 162.9 173.1 ( 5.9%
218 222 - - 218 22.2 ( 1.8)%
63.4 62.5 - - 63.4 62.5 1.4%
6.0 5.3 - - 6.0 53 13.2%
10.9 11.0 - - 10.9 11.0 ( 0.9%
12.4 12.7 - - 12.4 12.7 ( 2.4)%
8.3 8.6 - - 8.3 8.6 ( 3.5)%
4.2 35 - - 4.2 35 20.0 %
21 2.3 - - 21 2.3 ( 8.7)%
1.4 1.6 - - 14 1.6 ( 12.5)%
4.9 5.0 2.4 2.4 7.3 7.4 ( 1.4%
- - 31.4 321 314 3211 ( 2.2)%
- - 1.6 1.7 1.6 1.7 ( 5.9%
135.4 134.7 354 36.2 170.8 170.9 ( 0.1)%
( 5.5) 35 ( 24 ( 13 ( 79 2.2 (359.1)%
(0.2) (_01) - - (0.2 (01) 100.0 %
( 5.7 3.4 ( 24 ( 13) ( 8.1) 21 (385.7)%
129.2 125.8 79.7 81.0 208.9 206.8 1.0%
$1235 $129.2 $ 773 $ 79.7 $ 200.8 $208.9 ( 3.9%
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The change in net assets for governmental activities before transfers reports a decrease of $5.5 million for fiscal year 2009 as
compared to a $3.5 million increase for fiscal year 2008. This $9.0 million decrease is due primarily to revenue reductions
rather than expenditure increases.

Total revenues decreased $8.3 million in the current year attributable to: 1.) lower taxable values resulting in a reduction in
property tax revenues of $0.8 million, 2.) a reduction in State shared revenues of $0.5 million, 3.) investment earnings that
were $2.7 million lower due to historically low interest rates, and 4.) a reduction of $2.5 million in capital grants and
contributions due primarily to a one-time receipt of $1.9 million in fiscal year 2008 from the Michigan Department of
Transportation towards a designated road project. General government expenses in fiscal year 2009 were generally
consistent with the prior year; exceeding fiscal year 2008 expenses by $0.7 million.

There are a number of both positive and negative transactions that are ultimately reflected in the change in net assets. Some
of the more significant of these were previously highlighted in the Letter of Transmittal and additional items are reported in the
“Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds” which follows this section. .

As represented in Figure A-1 and Figure A-2, property taxes continue to be the major source of governmental revenues.
Program revenues, that being charges for services as well as operating and capital grants, generated only 21.0 percent of the
resources necessary to operate the governmental functions of the City.

Figure A-1
Revenues by Source
Governmental Activities

Settlement agreement
0.02%

Investment earnings
0.54%

Capital grants and
contributions

1.27% Property taxes

Taxes 67.34%

78.99%

Operating grants and
contributions
8.88%

Sales and use taxes
10.43%

Charges for services

0,
10.32% Franchise fees

1.22%
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Figure A-2
Expenses and Program Revenues
Governmental Activities
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General . City Highways and| Recreation . Economic Community Capital Interest on
Public safety Sanitation N long-term-
government development streets and culture development | development projects debt
[ Expenses (in millions) $21.8 $63.4 $6.0 $10.9 $12.4 $8.3 $4.2 $2.1 $1.4 $4.9
O Program Revenues (in millions) $6.4 $2.3 $2.4 $8.5 $3.0 $0.1 $0.6 $1.9 $1.4 $0.0

The change in net assets for business-type activities reports a decrease of $2.4 million in the current year as compared to a
$1.3 million loss in the prior year. Senior Citizen Housing operating profits before depreciation were $818,300 in 2009 as
compared to $762,900 in fiscal year 2008 with net income decreasing $35,000 to $271,000. Rental revenues and occupancy
levels were consistent with the prior year; however decreased investment earnings contributed to the reduction in net income.
The Water and Sewer System realized a net loss of $2.7 million for the year as compared to a net loss of $1.6 million in the
previous year. Losses from operations were $910,000 and $153,000 respectively, for fiscal years 2008 and 2007. Before
depreciation, the System generated operating income of $3.4 million as compared to $4.4 million in fiscal year 2007.
Operating revenues for fiscal year 2008 were $30.5 million on a sales volume of 759,993 MCF (thousand cubic feet) as
compared to operating revenues of $32.0 million on a sales volume of 883,463 MCF in the previous year. This 14.0%
decrease in water sales resulted in $324,766 less operating revenue, net of wholesale water costs, to fund operations and
debt service expenditures. Operating expenditures including water purchases but before depreciation were 1.6% lower than
the prior year.
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Figure A-3
Expenses by Function / Program
Government-wide

Water and Sewer System Senior Citizen Housing General government

Interest on long-term debt
19.6% 1.20% 12.8%

2.9%

Capital projects
0.8%
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Community development
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Economic development
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Highways and streets City development
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6.4% 3.5%

Financial Analysis of the City’s Funds

As of June 30, 2009, the governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $101.2 million, a decrease of $1.4 million
from the prior fiscal year. No deficit fund balances were reported in any of the governmental funds. Significant changes in
individual fund balances during the current fiscal year are as follows:

e The general fund, whose resources are the City’'s main source of providing services to its citizenry, reported a decrease in fund
balance of $3.4 million to $54.2 million, with Unreserved-Undesignated Fund Balance, the amount available to the City to meet its
future obligations, increasing by $2.8 million to $29.8 million. Total revenues decreased $3.8 million or 3.9% from the previous year.
Significant reductions from prior year revenues occurred in the following areas : 1.) general fund property tax revenues, including
industrial facilities taxes and tax collection fees, decreased $823,000 attributable to the before mentioned decrease in taxable
property values, 2.) State shared sales tax revenues decreased by another $546,000, 3.) fines and fees collected by the 37" District
Court were $479,000 lower, and 4.) interest income was $2.3 million less than the previous year due once again to historically low
interest rates. General fund expenditures increased $524,000 or 0.5% from the prior year. Expenditures were consistent with the
prior year with the exception of those previously highlighted in the letter of transmittal. It should be noted that a component of
Unreserved Fund Balance, that being Designated — Subsequent Year Expenditures decreased from $9.7 million in 2008 to $4.0
million in 2009. The primary reasons for the variance were: 1.) $842,000 less of re-appropriations at the end of the fiscal year, and
2.) reducing the amount necessary to balance the subsequent year's budget by $4.8 million, primarily due to eliminating vacant
positions from the 2010 adopted budget. This substantial reduction in designated fund balance is the main reason for Unreserved-
Undesignated Fund Balance increasing $2.8 million even though total fund balance decreased by $3.4 million.

¢ Following a $1.9 million decrease in the previous year, fund balance in the Michigan Transportation Operating — Major Street Fund
decreased another $1.5 million in the current year. Contributing factors have been: 1.) reductions in State gas and weight tax
revenues, 2.) reduced interest earnings on its available cash balances due to historically low interest rates, 3.) increased Winter
Maintenance costs in fiscal year 2009, and 4.) transfers of $1.5 million in both fiscal years 2009 and 2008 to support the activities of
the Michigan Transportation Operating — Local Street Fund.

¢ Fund balance in the Sanitation Special Revenue Fund decreased $1.7 million in 2009 as compared to increasing $0.6 million in 2008.
This $2.3 million swing is attributable to purchasing twelve garbage trucks and nineteen packer bodies in the current fiscal year that
were paid from available fund balance rather than from issuing additional debt.

e By their very nature, fund balance may fluctuate significantly in capital project funds. Expendable funds are normally received
through the issuance of debt or the accumulation of assets; with the subsequent expenditure of available assets in many cases
spanning multiple fiscal years thereafter. The Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2008 fund balance increased $3.9 million from
$5.2 million of net bond proceeds less $1.3 million expended on road and sidewalk improvement projects throughout the city. Fund
balance in the Court Building Renovation Fund increased $515,000 as fines continued to be collected designated for renovation of
the 37" District Court building.
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The City Council adopts an annual operating budget on a budgetary center basis and may be amended several times during
the year. Amendments primarily represent either additional appropriations of funds or inter-departmental transfers between
line items requiring no additional appropriation. Budget amendments are normally approved for the following reasons:

o Re-appropriations for material expenditures, primarily for capital acquisitions, approved in the prior fiscal year but not
consummated by year-end.

o Award of grants and recognition of related expenditures.
¢ Emergencies.
e To prevent budget overruns.
Significant budget amendments approved during the current fiscal year included:
¢ Re-appropriations of $1.326 million from the prior fiscal year for capital equipment and grant related expenditures.

¢ Increase in budgeted revenues and expenditures in the amount of $200,000 upon award of a 2008 Justice Assistance
Grant.

¢ Increase in budgeted expenditures in the amount of $120,486 for tax reverted property expense.

The annual budget is developed from analysis of historical and anticipated trend information and facts known at the time of
preparation. Accordingly, actual revenues received and expenditures incurred during the year may vary, sometimes
significantly, from earlier estimates. Significant general fund budget-to-actual variances include: 1.) revenues from
penalties and interest on taxes and tax administration fees cumulatively exceeded budget estimates by $580,000, 2.)
federal grant revenues exceeded budgeted estimates by $499,000, 3.) state shared sales tax revenues were $541,000
lower than expected due reductions in State distributions, 4.) fines and fees collected by the 37" District Court were
$339,000 below projections and $479,000 less than received in the prior fiscal year, and 5.) many departmental budgets
reflect significant wage and benefit savings as the result of not filling budgeted positions. Significant budget-to-actual
variances may exist both as to revenues and expenditures regarding grants. Budgeted revenues and expenses are
amended upon award of the grant. Many of these grants are project oriented or capital in nature and may span multiple
fiscal years until completion. The recording of actual revenues and actual expenditures may or may not coincide with the
corresponding budget amendment in the year the grant was awarded.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

As of June 30, 2009, the City’s capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, represents an investment of $262.1 million, a
decrease of $5.2 million, or 1.9 percent from the prior year. More detailed information about the City’s capital assets is
presented in Note 3 to the financial statements.
Table A-3
Capital Assets
(net of depreciation, in millions of dollars)

Total
Governmental Business-type Percentage

Activities Activities Total Change

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2008-2009
Land $ 251 $ 25.1 $ 08 $ 08 $ 259 $ 259 0.0 %
Land improvements 3.6 3.5 - - 3.6 3.5 29%
Buildings 64.4 67.2 50.1 51.4 1145 118.6 ( 3.5%
Utility system - - 61.4 61.7 61.4 61.7 ( 0.5)%
Machinery and equipment 19.3 18.9 1.0 1.2 20.3 20.1 1.0 %
Infrastructure 34.3 35.5 - - 34.3 35.5 ( 3.4)%
Construction in progress 2.1 2.0 - - 2.1 2.0 5.0%
Total $148.8 $152.2 $113.3 $1151 $262.1 $267.3 ( 1.9%
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Major capital acquisitions during the year included:

Police Department: Fire Department:
Communication equipment - $91,000 Roofing - $69,000
Vehicles (16) - $332,000 Rescue trailer - $200,000
Parks and Recreation: Trucks (2) - $73,000
Fitzgerald Rec. Center improvements - $121,000 Sanitation:
Playground equipment - $47,000 Trucks (12) - $1.2 million
Water and Sewer System: Packers (19) - $1.2 million
Water mains - $1.6 million Michigan Transportation Funds:
Sewer lines - $291,000 Road construction projects - $0.8 million
Backhoes (2) - $164,000 Downtown Development Authority:
Waste Water Treatment Plant: City Hall / City Center - $260,000

Plant-wide improvements — $509,000

There are a number of outstanding contracts for various road construction projects and other projects that are capital in nature.
The balances of these contracts are reported in the governmental funds Balance Sheet and are captioned as “fund balance —
reserved for capital projects”. The Water and Sewer System likewise has a number of outstanding contracts for system
improvement projects. The balances of these contracts are reported in the business-type activities Statement of Net Assets
and captioned as “net assets — restricted for construction”. Sufficient funds are currently available to complete these projects.

Long-term Debt

At June 30, 2009, the City had long-term debt outstanding of $167.9 million, a decrease of $2.5 million, or 1.5 percent from the
prior year. $5.3 million of Capital Improvement Bonds were issued in the current fiscal year to fund road improvement and
sidewalk replacement projects within the City. More detailed information about the City’s long-tem debt is presented in Note 5
and Note 7 to the financial statements. Comprehensive debt service schedules are presented in Exhibit D-13 and Exhibit D-14
of the Statistical Section.

Table A-4
Outstanding Debt
(in millions of dollars)

Total
Governmental Business-type Percentage
Activities Activities Total Change
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2008-2009
Land contract $ 03 $ 04 $ - $ - $ 03 $ 04 ( 25.00%
Road Construction Bonds 17.7 15.8 - - 17.7 15.8 12.0 %
Water & Sewer Revenue Bonds - - 52.4 54.9 52.4 54.9 ( 4.6)%
Tax Increment Finance
Authority Bonds 0.5 0.6 - - 0.5 0.6 ( 16.7)%
Sidewalk Replacement Bonds 3.3 14 - - 3.3 14 135.7 %
Downtown Development
Authority Bonds 72.0 73.5 - - 72.0 73.5 ( 2.0%
Building Authority Bonds 15.1 16.5 6.6 7.3 21.7 23.8 ( 8.8)%
Total $108.9 $108.2 $ 59.0 $62.2 $167.9 $1704 ( 15%
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Economic Factors and Next Year’'s Budget

The City of Warren maintains a solid financial foundation through sound management practices. The continuance of these
practices is critical to maintaining the economic stability of the City. Limitations on revenue growth imposed by State
legislation, such as Proposal A, which restricts increases in property assessments to the rate of inflation, and fewer
opportunities for new development make it more difficult to continue holding millage rates below authorized levels.

The tax effects of a struggling housing market are beginning to impact the City of Warren. Homes selling for less than
previously established market values ultimately reduce the taxable value for property tax assessment. Declining taxable
values result in reduced tax revenue with which to support City operations. The loss of tax revenue adds yet another obstacle
that the City must overcome to maintain economic stability.

In an effort to balance its own budget, the State continues to reduce revenue sharing distributions. A struggling State
economy generates less sales and income tax revenue with the reduced distribution formula compounding the loss for local
units of government. The total distribution of State shared revenues to the City of Warren is 29.6% less than it was just 9
years ago, a loss of over $5.7 million annually. At its reduced levels, state shared revenues account for 14.4% of general fund
operating revenues.

As a mature community, there are relatively few opportunities for economic growth through land development. Less
development means less license and permit fees. Investment interest rates are well below levels from a few years ago.
Fewer funds available for investment and low returns on investment mean less interest income.

Tax limitations, reduced shared revenues and declining local revenues result in few resources with which to meet the financial
demands for City operations. The need for the City to pursue more efficient and cost-effective methods of providing City
services is more critical than ever. The nature and extent of services that are provided must be continuously evaluated to
assure that funding “non-essential” services does not compromise core functions.

Wages and fringe benefits account for over 83% of all expenditures. Union contract negotiations focus on limiting the impact
on the City budget utilizing trade-offs and cost savings to offset changes. Several initiatives in contract negotiations have
helped keep current and future costs under control.

Pension contributions for employees participating the City’s original Defined Benefit (DB) pension systems continue to rise
both as a percentage of participating payroll and in total dollars. The uncertain earning power of the stock and bond markets
and rapidly escalating retiree health care costs factor significantly in these increases.

A 401(a) Defined Contribution (DC) plan helps to mitigate current pension costs and stabilize future financial obligations. It
has effectively set a cap on the liability to the DB plan by barring any new additions of personnel to that plan. Participation in
the DB plan is limited to existing employees who did not opt to transfer to the DC plan. For those employees who did transfer
the City contributes 15% of payroll cost to the DC plan. The contribution rate for new hires is 10% of payroll cost. Both
compare very favorably with similar offerings from other communities and the private sector. Both are substantial savings over
the 47.94% contributed for members of the DB plan.

The City has also developed plans to help contain health insurance costs. Health insurance benefits payable at retirement for
existing employees are funded on an annual basis using an actuarially determined percentage. Recent contract settlements
provide a different program for new hires. The City contributes 1% and the employee can contribute up to 4% of payroll cost
into a fund from which health insurance costs will be directly paid upon the employee’s retirement. Contributions carry income
tax incentives and the City’s liability is limited to the contractually agreed contribution rate of 1%. This results in a substantial
savings over the program for established employees where employees contribute nothing toward retirement health benefits
and the City’s current liability is actuarially established at 33.50% of payroll.

Demand for city services increases each year while financial resources for manpower and materials become more and more
scarce. It is imperative for elected officials, management and labor to find common ground in ways to best meet the demand.
Gone are the days of narrowly defined job descriptions. Cooperation and openness to new ways of problem resolution are
necessary.
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Waste Water Treatment Plant employees have been at the forefront of change. With a workforce 27% smaller than a decade
ago they are able to meet the challenges brought on largely by federal and state regulations. They have been asked to rethink
their job responsibilities from the ground up and help redesign workflows. Transitioning has not always been a painless
process but it is not without benefits for those who have met the tasks with determination. Educational resources and
opportunities for professional growth exist where they never did before. Positions historically considered entry level for
municipal employment are now destination jobs providing skills with potential marketability outside the confines of the City.

The Water Division faces many of the same type of issues as the Waste Water Treatment Plant; an aging infrastructure
requiring more and more maintenance activity and escalating operating costs that are outside our direct control. As of July
2008, water rates from the City of Detroit had risen over 90% in the previous decade. We have to pass those costs on to
consumers but we also have an obligation to assure that we doing everything we can internally to contain those costs we can
control.

The frequency and severity of water main and sewer line breaks continue to escalate. In part this is the result of water
pressure variations from the City of Detroit as it attempts to meet the increasing demand of growth communities to our north
and in part because much of our underground infrastructure is nearing the end of its useful life.

A major water meter replacement program has been proposed to improve registration accuracy and automate customer usage
data collection. An Automated Meter Reading System (AMR) will enable us to retrieve timely usage information and give us
the ability to identify potential customer problems, such as spikes in usage indicating potential leaks, before they become too
costly for the users. Evaluation of vendor proposals are complete but the contract award was delayed as the result of seeking
funding through the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA). The ARRA potential financing terms were
considerably more favorable than local alternatives. Though the project did not qualify for ARRA subsidies it is anticipated to
be completed utilizing interest subsidized Recovery Zone Economic Bonds.

Ordinances evidencing the City’s resolve to combat blight have been enacted. Warren residents and businesses are literally
being told to clean up their own back — and front — yards. Aside from the aesthetics of cleanly and safely maintained
residential, commercial and industrial areas, the community must do everything it can to preserve property values. Having the
right tools to enforce compliance assures the majority of the residents and businesses that take pride in the community that
they will not bear the brunt of costs for those who neglect to meet their responsibilities.

The City conducts business in a new City Hall/Library complex, outfitted with several cost-effective technologies. The 4-story,
110,000 square foot facility includes a 35,000 square foot library on its ground floor complete with a computer lab and various
collections oriented toward a variety of interests.

The new City Hall illustrates commitment to a rebirth and revitalization of the Warren community. Combined with other
economic developments financed through the Downtown Development Authority, this facility helps provide the City of Warren
with something it has never before had in its history — an identifiable downtown area. It is hoped that new shopping facilities,
restaurants and entertainment options will help transform Warren from a bedroom commuter community to a vibrant place to
work and play.

Contacting the City’s Financial Management
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and investors and creditors with a general
overview of the City's finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any

guestions about this report or need additional information, contact the City of Warren, Controller's Office, Suite 425, One City
Square, Warren, Michigan 48093-5289.
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Exhibit A-1
CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
JUNE 30, 2009

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities _ Total
Assets
Current assets - unrestricted:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 87,475,776 $ 6,036,071 $ 93,511,847
Investments 2,106,712 1,722,207 3,828,919
Deposits 851,991 - 851,991
Receivables (net of allowances where applicable)
Accrued interest 5,709 1,940 7,649
Accounts 9,684,733 10,881,040 20,565,773
Land contract interest - 11,637 11,637
Internal balances (1) 2,510,982 7,765 2,518,747
Due from other governments 5,917,403 - 5,917,403
Inventory at cost 1,520,267 239,795 1,760,062
Prepaid expenses / expenditures 391,992 31,703 423,695
Total current assets - unrestricted 110,465,565 18,932,158 129,397,723
Current assets - restricted:
Cash and cash equivalents - 6,975,879 6,975,879
Due from unrestricted - 4,398,330 4,398,330
Internal balances (1) - 1,079,210 1,079,210
Designated for future projects - 1,104,363 1,104,363
Total current assets - restricted - 13,557,782 13,557,782
Total current assets 110,465,565 32,489,940 142,955,505
Noncurrent assets:
Receivables (net of allowances where applicable)
Notes 6,291,810 - 6,291,810
Due from other governments 9,029,307 - 9,029,307
Delinquent taxes 460,340 - 460,340
Other - - -
Special assessments 2,571,539 - 2,571,539
Land contract - 387,897 387,897
Total noncurrent receivables 18,352,996 387,897 18,740,893
Deferred charges:
Bond issuance costs 937,148 130,976 1,068,124
Total deferred charges 937,148 130,976 1,068,124
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation)
Land 25,082,543 826,863 25,909,406
Land improvements 3,606,408 - 3,606,408
Buildings 64,449,256 50,125,304 114,574,560
Utility system - 61,310,911 61,310,911
Machinery and equipment 19,285,493 1,029,090 20,314,583
Infrastructure 34,339,015 - 34,339,015
Construction in progress 2,068,600 - 2,068,600
Total capital assets 148,831,315 113,292,168 262,123,483
Total noncurrent assets 168,121,459 113,811,041 281,932,500
Total assets $ 278,587,024 $ 146,300,981 $ 424,888,005

(1) Internal receivables and payables are not equal due to timing
differences in reporting Water and Sewer Sytem balances
as of December 31, 2008.

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Liabilities
Current liabilities - unrestricted:
Accounts payable
Payable to restricted
Retainages payable
Accrued salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and deductions
Internal balances (1)
Deposits
Accrued interest payable
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term liabilities:
Land contract
Bonds payable

Total current liabilities - unrestricted

Current liabilities - restricted assets:

Accounts payable

Accrued interest payable

Deposits

Construction contracts to be
performed in future periods

Current portion of long-term liabilities:

Bonds payable
Total current liabilities - restricted

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities - unrestricted:
Accumulated compensatory time
Compensated absences payable
Accrued insurance claims
Noncurrent portion of long-term liabilities:

Land contract

Bonds payable

Unamortized bond premium / (discount)
Deferred refunding charge

Total noncurrent liabilities - unrestricted

Noncurrent liabilities - restricted:
Noncurrent portion of long-term liabilities:
Bonds payable
Unamortized bond premium / (discount)

Total noncurrent liabilities - restricted
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted for:
Public safety
Sanitation
Recreation and culture
City development
Community development
Economic development
Highways and streets
Capital projects
Debt service
Insurance claims
Unrestricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

Primary Government

Exhibit A-1

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities

$ 5,300,181 $ 2,014,276
- 4,398,330

61,980 -
3,099,519 109,972

- 95,349

1,080,072 1,604,239
396,750 135,884
1,101,653 46,360
9,444,524 -
91,208 -
5,438,314 3,269,082
26,014,201 11,673,492
- 598,659

- 345,150

- 187,720

- 1,104,363

- 42,605

- 2,278,497

26,014,201 13,951,989
2,285,906 148,002
14,084,094 1,505,238
10,716,554 -
253,067 -
103,116,548 55,680,543
(796,838) (49,429)
(576,263) (2,192,801)
129,083,068 55,091,553
- (106)
- (106)
129,083,068 55,091,447
155,097,269 69,043,436
48,445,832 57,656,542
1,296,821 -
4,323,032 -
5,754,286 -
63,705 -
6,707,717 -
11,363,678 -
9,523,229 -
3,712,309 4,628,660
99,447 6,650,731

- 500,000
32,199,699 7,821,612
123,489,755 77,257,545
$ 278,587,024 $ 146,300,981
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Total

$ 7,314,457

37,687,693

598,659
345,150
187,720

1,104,363

42,605
2,278,497

39,966,190

2,433,908
15,589,332
10,716,554

253,067

158,797,091
(846,267)
(2,769,064)

184,174,621

106
106

184,174,515

224,140,705

106,102,374

1,296,821
4,323,032
5,754,286
63,705
6,707,717
11,363,678
9,523,229
8,340,969
6,750,178
500,000
40,021,311

200,747,300

$ 424,888,005



EXHIBIT A-2

Functions/ Programs

Primary Government
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
City development
Highways and streets
Recreation and culture
Sanitation
Economic development
Community development
Capital projects
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities

Business-type activities:
Water and Sewer System
Senior Citizen Housing

Total business-type activities

Total primary government

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Expenses

Program Revenues

Charges for
Services

$ 21,806,236

$ 5,429,606

63,420,416 1,254,524
6,016,830 2,390,586
10,856,256 415,938
12,386,834 2,481,789
8,292,078 136,097
4,202,199 395,565
2,085,824 407,939
1,415,169 507,338
4,911,254 -
135,393,096 13,419,382
33,432,269 30,465,234
1,965,932 2,184,011
35,398,201 32,649,245

$ 170,791,297

$ 46,068,627

(1) Internal transfers are not equal due to timing
differences in reporting Water and Sewer Sytem

activities as of December 31, 2008.

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Operating Capital
Grants and Grants and
Contributions Contributions
$ 1,001,562 $ 5,086

399,810 643,009
8,019,089 35,886
519,281 392

119,683 63,008
1,469,893 -

- 901,464

13,600 -
11,542,918 1,648,845

$ 11,542,918 $ 1,648,845

General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes
Sales and use taxes
Franchise fees
Investment earnings
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets

Total general revenues, investment earnings
and gain or loss on sale of capital assets

Excess (deficiency) of
revenues over expenses

Other items:
Settlement agreement

Transfer to Water and Sewer System (1)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Change in net assets

Net assets - beginning of year

Net assets - end of year



Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total
$ (15,369,982) $ - $  (15,369,982)
(61,123,073) - (61,123,073)
(3,626,244) - (3,626,244)
(2,385,343) - (2,385,343)
(9,385,372) - (9,385,372)
(8,155,981) - (8,155,981)
(3,623,943) - (3,623,943)
(207,992) - (207,992)
(6,367) - (6,367)
(4,897,654) - (4,897,654)
(108,781,951) - (108,781,951)
- (2,967,035) (2,967,035)
- 218,079 218,079
- (2,748,956) (2,748,956)
$  (108,781,951) $ (2,748,956) $  (111,530,907)
87,572,093 - 87,572,093
13,559,035 - 13,559,035
1,582,133 - 1,582,133
703,476 324,610 1,028,086
(115,498) - (115,498)
103,301,239 324,610 103,625,849
(5,480,712) (2,424,346) (7,905,058)
23,485 - 23,485
(253,092) - (253,092)
(229,607) - (229,607)
(5,710,319) (2,424,346) (8,134,665)
129,200,074 79,681,891 208,881,965
$ 123,489,755 $ 77,257,545 $ 200,747,300
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EXHIBIT B-1

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Deposits
Receivables, net
Accrued interest
Accounts
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Inventory at cost
Assets held for resale
Receivables, non-current:
Notes
Due from other governments
Delinquent taxes
Special assessments

Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Retainage payable

Accrued salaries and wages

Deposits

Due to other funds

Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Fund balances:
Reserved:
Prepaid expenditures
Inventories
Receivables
Grants and capital projects
Unreserved:
Designated:
Subsequent years' expenditures
Compensated absences
Compensatory time
Insurance claims
Undesignated

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

June 30, 2009

Special Revenue Funds

Michigan Transportation Operating

General Major Local

Fund Streets Streets
42,208,579 $ 2,036,770 $ 3,587,394
442,508 - -
2,960 177 118
365,854 - -
11,802,431 - -
3,824,664 960,461 321,219
362,690 - -
145,251 - -
806,046 - -
59,960,983 $ 2,997,408 $ 3,908,731
2,708,674 59,605 73,863
- 6,158 3,025
2,409,013 72,301 84,439
330,671 - -
- 41,442 25,173
315,217 - -
5,763,575 179,506 186,500
362,690 - -
145,251 - -
806,046 - -
63,817 282,055 223,980
3,984,585 689,024 892,076
7,171,390 191,064 153,492
1,176,970 32,615 21,743
10,716,554 - -
29,770,105 1,623,144 2,430,940
54,197,408 2,817,902 3,722,231
59,960,983 $ 2,997,408 $ 3,908,731
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Special Revenue Funds

EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

Community HOME

Development C.D.B.G. - Investment

Sanitation Recreation Library Block Grant Recovery Partnership
5,096,113 $ 3,816,366 4,377 $ 58,847 $ - 391,524
129,870 522 - - - -
- - - 15,278 - -
- 165,167 225,684 34,385 - 20,452
10,255 11,126 3,718 3,396 - -
9,377 5,149 - - - -
- - - 5,962,512 - 329,298
- - - 1,022,647 229,180 1,488,031
171,821 85,701 43,351 - - -
5,417,436 $ 4,084,031 277,130 $ 7,097,065 $ 229,180 2,229,305
672,771 202,020 49,008 - - -
178,222 234,749 80,188 - - -
34,526 25,953 - 500 - 100
- - - 53,059 - 20,384
- 2,000 - 6,985,159 229,180 1,817,329
885,519 464,722 129,196 7,038,718 229,180 1,837,813
10,255 11,126 3,718 3,396 - -
9,377 5,149 - - - -
171,821 85,701 43,351 - - -
- 87,200 - - - -
1,051,001 852,345 59,865 - - -
101,382 104,330 29,000 - - -
34,349 25,804 12,000 - - -
3,153,732 2,447,654 - 54,951 - 391,492
4,531,917 3,619,309 147,934 58,347 - 391,492
5,417,436 $ 4,084,031 277,130 $ 7,097,065 $ 229,180 2,229,305




EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Deposits
Receivables, net
Accrued interest
Accounts
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Inventory at cost
Assets held for resale
Receivables, non-current:
Notes
Due from other governments
Delinquent taxes
Special assessments

Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Retainage payable

Accrued salaries and wages

Deposits

Due to other funds

Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Fund balances:
Reserved:
Prepaid expenditures
Inventories
Receivables
Grants and capital projects
Unreserved:
Designated:
Subsequent years' expenditures
Compensated absences
Compensatory time
Insurance claims
Undesignated

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2009

Special Revenue Funds

Neighborhood Brownfield
Stabilization Redevelopment
H.O.P.W.A. Program Fund Communications
$ 100 $ 100 6,131 $ 1,668,457
- - - 405,644
7,467 44,348 - -
- - - 694
504,450 5,784,999 - -
$ 512,017 $ 5,829,447 6,131 $ 2,074,795
- - - 26,373
- - - 28,404
7,467 44,348 - -
504,450 5,784,999 - 20,000
511,917 5,829,347 - 74,777
- - - 694
- - 1,729 -
- - - 232,157
R - - 26,334
100 100 4,402 1,740,833
100 100 6,131 2,000,018
$ 512,017 $ 5,829,447 6,131 $ 2,074,795
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Special Revenue Funds

EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

Debt Service

Downtown
Development Chapter
Rental Vice Crime Drug Police Authority 20 and 21
Ordinance Confiscations Forfeiture Training Administration Drain Bonds
74,471 $ 198,113 $ 975,951 136,907 $ 7,245,055 $ 86,740
- - - - 2,106,712 -
- 6,750 - 325 - -
- - - - 2,945 -
46 - - - 67 -
- - - - 1,360,490 -
- - - - 15,421 -
74,517 $ 204,863 $ 975,951 137,232 $ 10,730,690 $ 86,740
2,259 999 20,226 - 50,051 -
4,523 - - - 7,680 -
- - - - 5,000 -
- - - - 435,237 -
6,782 999 20,226 - 497,968 -
46 - - - 67 -
- - - - 1,360,490 -
- - - - 15,421 -
55,273 72,200 319,412 5,400 72,012 14,200
4,030 - - - - -
8,386 131,664 636,313 131,832 8,784,732 72,540
67,735 203,864 955,725 137,232 10,232,722 86,740
74,517 $ 204,863 $ 975,951 137,232 $ 10,730,690 $ 86,740
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EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Deposits
Receivables, net
Accrued interest
Accounts
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Inventory at cost
Assets held for resale
Receivables, non-current:
Notes
Due from other governments
Delinquent taxes
Special assessments

Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Retainage payable

Accrued salaries and wages

Deposits

Due to other funds

Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Fund balances:
Reserved:
Prepaid expenditures
Inventories
Receivables
Grants and capital projects
Unreserved:
Designated:
Subsequent years' expenditures
Compensated absences
Compensatory time
Insurance claims
Undesignated

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN

BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2009

Debt Service Funds

Tax Increment Finance Authority Special Assessment Bonds
Refunding
Series 1991 Series 1999 Series 2003 Series 2005
$ - $ - $ - $ 1,348,113
$ - $ - $ - $ 1,348,113
- - - 113
- - - 113
R - - 1,348,000
- - - 1,348,000
$ - $ - $ - $ 1,348,113
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EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

Debt Service Funds

Capital Downtown Development Authority Bonds Michigan
Improvement Transportation
Bonds-Sidewalks Bonds

Series 2008 Series 2002 Series 2003 Series 2004 Series 2005 Series 1997
$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
4,960 - - - - -
$ 4,960 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
4,960 - - - - -
4,960 - - - - -
$ 4,960 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
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EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Deposits
Receivables, net
Accrued interest
Accounts
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Inventory at cost
Assets held for resale
Receivables, non-current:
Notes
Due from other governments
Delinquent taxes
Special assessments

Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Retainage payable

Accrued salaries and wages

Deposits

Due to other funds

Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Fund balances:
Reserved:
Prepaid expenditures
Inventories
Receivables
Grants and capital projects
Unreserved:
Designated:
Subsequent years' expenditures
Compensated absences
Compensatory time
Insurance claims
Undesignated

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2009

Debt Service Funds

Michigan
Transportation
Bonds
Series 2000

Michigan
Transportation
Bonds
Series 2003

Capital
Improvement
Bonds
Series 2006

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

Debt Service Funds Capital Projects
Capital Building Authority Bonds
Improvement Special
Bonds - Roads Refunding Assessment
Series 2008 Series 2001 Series 2002 Series 2005 Series 2005 Revolving
$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 579,265
- - - 113 - -
8,640 - - 14,657 - -
- - - - - 214,041
$ 8,640 $ - $ - $ 14,770 $ - $ 793,306
- - - 113 - 9,289
- - - - - 292,041
- - - 113 - 301,330
8,640 - - - - -
- - - 14,657 - 491,976
8,640 - - 14,657 - 491,976
$ 8,640 $ - $ - $ 14,770 $ - $ 793,306
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EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2009

Capital Projects Funds

Michigan Transportation Construction

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Deposits
Receivables, net
Accrued interest
Accounts
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Inventory at cost
Assets held for resale
Receivables, non-current:
Notes
Due from other governments
Delinquent taxes
Special assessments

Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Retainage payable

Accrued salaries and wages

Deposits

Due to other funds

Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Fund balances:
Reserved:
Prepaid expenditures
Inventories
Receivables
Grants and capital projects
Unreserved:
Designated:
Subsequent years' expenditures
Compensated absences
Compensatory time
Insurance claims
Undesignated

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Sidewalk
and Tree
Revolving

2000
Major
Streets

2003
Major
Streets

1,457,485

2,357,498

$ 621,245

152,700

11

142,617

3,814,983

$ 621,294

295,328

2,125
10,000

2,357,498

2,369,623

28

1,098,981

94,161

142,617
3,930

148,753

1,445,360

621,294

295,300

3,814,983

$ 621,294

$

295,328
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Capital Projects Funds

EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

Capital Capital Building Authority Construction Funds 37th District
Improvement Improvement Court
Bonds Bonds Building
Series 2006 Series 2008 Series 2001 Series 2002 Series 2005 Renovation
$ 3,431,541 $ 4,620,988 966 6,091 $ 451,733 $ 3,115,183
409,483 - - - - -
267 367 - - - -
- - - - 100,000 -
119,669 - - - 805 50,465
$ 3,960,960 $ 4,621,355 966 6,091 $ 552,538 $ 3,165,648
517,208 714,589 - - - -
- 19,084 - - - -
1,079,195 13,600 - 877 14,657 -
1,596,403 747,273 - 877 14,657 -
119,669 - - - - -
512,664 2,032,969 - - - -
- - - - - 3,080,692
1,732,224 1,841,113 966 5,214 537,881 84,956
2,364,557 3,874,082 966 5,214 537,881 3,165,648
$ 3,960,960 $ 4,621,355 966 6,091 $ 552,538 $ 3,165,648
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EXHIBIT B-1 (continued)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Deposits
Receivables, net
Accrued interest
Accounts
Due from other funds
Due from other governments
Prepaid expenditures
Inventory at cost
Assets held for resale
Receivables, non-current:
Notes
Due from other governments
Delinquent taxes
Special assessments

Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Retainage payable

Accrued salaries and wages

Deposits

Due to other funds

Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Fund balances:
Reserved:
Prepaid expenditures
Inventories
Receivables
Grants and capital projects
Unreserved:
Designated:
Subsequent years' expenditures
Compensated absences
Compensatory time
Insurance claims
Undesignated

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2009

Capital Projects Funds

Sewer
Plant
Expansion

Tax Increment
Finance
Authority

Downtown
Development
Authority
Construction

Total
Governmental
Funds

$ 1,447,420

$ 2,651,051

$ 87,475,776
2,106,712
851,991

5,709
1,009,078
11,848,911
5,917,403
391,992
159,777
1,360,490

6,291,810
9,029,307
1,122,340
2,571,539

$ 1,447,537

$ 2,652,694

$ 130,142,835

59,507

6,907

131,360
23,713

5,300,181
61,980
3,099,519
396,750
1,742,346
18,307,873

66,414

155,073

28,908,649

1,081,123

130,565

2,367,056

391,992
1,520,267
1,384,626
4,512,421

11,388,882
7,781,022
1,303,481

10,716,554

62,234,941

1,381,123

2,497,621

101,234,186

$ 1,447,537

$ 2,652,694

$ 130,142,835
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City of Warren, Michigan

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

to the Statement of Net Assets
June 30, 2009

Fund balances - governmental funds (Exhibit B-1)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets differ due to:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources

and therefore are not reported as assets in governmental funds
Historical cost
Accumulated depreciation

Long-term liabilities, including accrued interest on the associated debt, are
not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported as

liabilities in the governmental funds. Long-term liabilities consist of:
Bonds payable
Land contract
Compensated absences payable
Compensatory time payable
Accrued insurance claims
Accrued interest payable

Bond issuance costs, premiums and discounts and deferred refunding
charges are not current financial resources and therefore are not reported

in the governmental funds.
Bond issuance costs
Bond premiums / discounts
Deferred refunding charge

Proceeds from certain long-term receivables do not represent current
financial resources and therefore are not reported in the governmental

funds.
Community Development Block Grant loans
Special assessments

Delinquent property taxes were reduced to reflect a settlement agreement
that will span multiple fiscal years. Going forward, annual budgets will
appropriate funds equal to the amount of taxes to be written off during the

respective fiscal year.

Total net assets - governmental activities (Exhibit A-1)

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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$ 301,577,848

(152,746,533)

$ (108,554,862)
(344,275)
(14,084,094)
(2,285,906)
(10,716,554)
(1,101,653)

$ 937,148
796,838
576,263

$ 6,291,810

2,571,539

Exhibit B-2

$ 101,234,186

148,831,315

(137,087,344)

2,310,249

8,863,349

(662,000)

$ 123489755



EXHIBIT B-3

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Revenues:
Property taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental:
Federal revenue
State revenue
Local revenue
Charges for services
Fines and fees
Interest
Sale of property
Miscellaneous

Total revenue

Expenditures:
General government
Public safety
City development
Highways and streets
Recreation and culture
Sanitation
Economic development
Community development
Capital projects
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Other

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Settlement agreement
Transfers in
Transfers out
Proceeds from sale of bonds
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent
Bond premiums/(discounts)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and financing
sources over expenditures and other uses

Fund balance - beginning of year

Fund balance - end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements

Special Revenue Funds

Michigan Transportation Operating

General Major Local
Fund Streets Streets
64,567,547 $ - $ -
1,759,663 - -
592,062 - -
14,228,618 5,948,637 2,381,276
727,954 23,802 -
1,096,795 - -
4,600,677 - -
568,188 47,950 33,362
25,180 - -
5,919,997 - -
94,086,681 6,020,389 2,414,638
25,756,493 - -
62,036,856 - -
5,875,287 - -
2,387,939 4,023,722 3,516,856
41,567 - -
85,973 - -
24,544 - -
96,208,659 4,023,722 3,516,856
(2,121,978) 1,996,667 (1,102,218)
- 63,818 1,709,598
(1,238,403) (3,600,244) (39,066)
(1,238,403) (3,536,426) 1,670,532
(3,360,381) (1,539,759) 568,314
57,557,789 4,357,661 3,153,917
54,197,408 $ 2,817,902 $ 3,722,231

29




Special Revenue Funds

EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

Community HOME
Development C.D.B.G. - Investment
Sanitation Recreation Library Block Grant Recovery Partnership

8,720,327 $ 4,492,659 2,246,330 $ - -
- - - 601,336 495,199

- 303,445 344,191 - -

- 2,245,615 84,180 - -

52,503 30,818 1,479 - -
102,553 - - - -
136,097 130,803 569 88,812 198,892
9,011,480 7,203,340 2,676,749 690,148 694,091
- 6,453,848 3,051,155 - -
10,475,172 - - - -
- - - 665,509 1,041,084
10,475,172 6,453,848 3,051,155 665,509 1,041,084
(1,463,692) 749,492 (374,406) 24,639 (346,993)
(226,515) - - - -

- - 80,000 - -

(56,782) (651,985) - - -
(283,297) (651,985) 80,000 - -
(1,746,989) 97,507 (294,406) 24,639 (346,993)
6,278,906 3,521,802 442,340 33,708 738,485
4,531,917 $ 3,619,309 147,934 $ 58,347 391,492
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EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Revenues:

Property taxes

Special assessments

Licenses and permits

Intergovernmental:
Federal revenue
State revenue
Local revenue

Charges for services

Fines and fees

Interest

Sale of property

Miscellaneous

Total revenue

Expenditures:
General government
Public safety
City development
Highways and streets
Recreation and culture
Sanitation
Economic development
Community development
Capital projects
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Other

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Settlement agreement
Transfers in
Transfers out
Proceeds from sale of bonds
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent
Bond premiums/(discounts)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and financing
sources over expenditures and other uses

Fund balance - beginning of year

Fund balance - end of year

Special Revenue Funds

Neighborhood Brownfield
Stabilization Redevelopment
H.O.P.W.A. Program Authority Communications
- $ - $ 321,600 $ -
328,910 44,448 - -
- - - 1,582,133
- - 3,357 14,778
- - - 21,191
328,910 44,448 324,957 1,618,102
- - - 1,336,241
- - 565,789 -
328,910 44,348 - -
328,910 44,348 565,789 1,336,241
- 100 (240,832) 281,861
- - - (220,290)
- - - (220,290)
- 100 (240,832) 61,571
100 - 246,963 1,938,447
100 $ 100 $ 6,131 $ 2,000,018
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Special Revenue Funds

EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

Debt Service

Downtown
Development Chapter
Rental Vice Crime Drug Police Authority 20 and 21
Ordinance Confiscations Forfeiture Training Administration Drain Bonds
- $ - $ - $ - $ 6,371,533 512
- - - 47,940 - -
40,000 - - - - -
264,295 76,184 565,132 - - -
846 1,968 7,199 1,196 58,433 716
- - - - 456,815 -
305,141 78,152 572,331 49,136 6,886,781 1,228
- 84,175 357,164 51,465 - -
315,352 - - - - -
- - - - 1,189,098 -
- - - - - 3,092
315,352 84,175 357,164 51,465 1,189,098 3,092
(10,211) (6,023) 215,167 (2,329) 5,697,683 (1,864)
- - - - (4,912,445) -
- - - - (4,912,445) -
(10,211) (6,023) 215,167 (2,329) 785,238 (1,864)
77,946 209,887 740,558 139,561 9,447,484 88,604
67,735 $ 203,864 $ 955,725 $ 137,232 $ 10,232,722 86,740
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EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

Revenues:

Property taxes

Special assessments

Licenses and permits

Intergovernmental:
Federal revenue
State revenue
Local revenue

Charges for services

Fines and fees

Interest

Sale of property

Miscellaneous

Total revenue

Expenditures:
General government
Public safety
City development
Highways and streets
Recreation and culture
Sanitation
Economic development
Community development
Capital projects
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Other

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Settlement agreement
Transfers in
Transfers out
Proceeds from sale of bonds
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent
Bond premiums/(discounts)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and financing
sources over expenditures and other uses

Fund balance - beginning of year

Fund balance - end of year

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Debt Service Funds

Tax Increment Finance Authority

Special Assessment Bonds

Refunding

Series 1991 Series 1999 Series 2003 Series 2005
$ - - $ $ -
- 160,000 175,000
24,000 3,440 49,713
700 150 225
24,700 163,590 224,938
(24,700) (163,590) (224,938)
24,700 163,590 268,575
24,700 163,590 268,575
- - 43,637
- - 1,304,363
$ - - $ $ 1,348,000
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EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

Debt Service Funds

Capital Downtown Development Authority Bonds Michigan
Improvement Transportation
Bonds-Sidewalks Bonds
Series 2008 Series 2002 Series 2003 Series 2004 Series 2005 Series 1997

$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
4,960 - - - - -

4,960 - - - - -

- 500,000 500,000 500,000 - 360,000

26,258 912,563 748,750 870,250 662,250 78,820

151 275 250 225 225 350

26,409 1,412,838 1,249,000 1,370,475 662,475 439,170
(21,449) (1,412,838) (1,249,000) (1,370,475) (662,475) (439,170)

26,409 1,412,838 1,249,000 1,370,475 662,475 439,170

26,409 1,412,838 1,249,000 1,370,475 662,475 439,170

4,960 - - - - -

$ 4,960 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
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EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Revenues:
Property taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental:
Federal revenue
State revenue
Local revenue
Charges for services
Fines and fees
Interest
Sale of property
Miscellaneous

Total revenue

Expenditures:
General government
Public safety
City development
Highways and streets
Recreation and culture
Sanitation
Economic development
Community development
Capital projects
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Other

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Settlement agreement
Transfers in
Transfers out
Proceeds from sale of bonds
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent
Bond premiums/(discounts)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and financing
sources over expenditures and other uses

Fund balance - beginning of year

Fund balance - end of year

Debt Service Funds

Michigan Michigan Capital
Transportation Transportation Improvement
Bonds Bonds Bonds
Series 2000 Series 2003 Series 2006
$ - $ - -
400,000 500,000 35,919
188,755 174,750 206,081
250 250 161
589,005 675,000 242,161
(589,005) (675,000) (242,161)
589,005 675,000 242,161
589,005 675,000 242,161
$ - $ - -
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EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

Debt Service Funds Capital Projects
Capital Building Authority Bonds
Improvement Special
Bonds - Roads Refunding Assessment
Series 2008 Series 2001 Series 2002 Series 2005 Series 2005 Revolving
$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
- - - - - 51,787
8,640 - - - - 4,164
- - - - - 6,492
8,640 - - - - 62,443
- - - - - 89,348
- 375,000 434,525 500,000 60,000 -
45,743 45,097 24,528 146,325 437,117 -
99 275 252 225 225 -
45,842 420,372 459,305 646,550 497,342 89,348
(37,202) (420,372) (459,305) (646,550) (497,342) (26,905)
45,842 420,372 459,305 646,550 497,342 -
45,842 420,372 459,305 646,550 497,342 -
8,640 - - - - (26,905)
- - - 14,657 - 518,881
$ 8,640 $ - $ - $ 14,657 $ - $ 491,976
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EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Capital Projects Funds

Michigan Transportation Construction

Sidewalk 2000 2003
and Tree Major Major
Revolving Streets Streets
Revenues:
Property taxes $ - $ - $ -
Special assessments 1,003,598 - -
Licenses and permits - - -
Intergovernmental:
Federal revenue - - -
State revenue - - -
Local revenue - - -
Charges for services 9,675 - -
Fines and fees - - -
Interest 29,791 5,594 771
Sale of property - - -
Miscellaneous - 82 -
Total revenue 1,043,064 5,676 771

Expenditures:

General government - . -

Public safety

City development - - -
Highways and streets - 7,730 610
Recreation and culture - - -

Sanitation

Economic development - - -
Community development - - -

Capital projects
Debt service:

Principal retirement - - -

Interest
Other

Total expenditures 940,015 7,730 610

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures 103,049 (2,054) 161

Other financing sources (uses):
Settlement agreement - - -

Transfers in
Transfers out

(294,984) . ]

Proceeds from sale of bonds - - -
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent - - -
Bond premiums/(discounts) - - -

Total other financing sources (uses) (294,984) - -

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and financing
sources over expenditures and other uses (191,935) (2,054) 161

Fund balance - beginning of year 1,637,295 623,348 295,139

Fund balance - end of year $ 1,445,360 $ 621,294 $ 295,300
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EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

Capital Projects Funds

Capital Capital Building Authority Construction Funds 37th District
Improvement Improvement Court
Bonds Bonds Building
Series 2006 Series 2008 Series 2001 Series 2002 Series 2005 Renovation
$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
- - - - 100,000 -
- - - - - 491,171
26,331 3,108 11 392 5,075 23,785
26,331 3,108 11 392 105,075 514,956
- - - 8,232 76,333 -
- - - - 3,027 -
55,193 780,588 - - - -
- - - - 126,793 -
- 385,806 - - - -
- 76,641 - - - -
55,193 1,243,035 - 8,232 206,153 -
(28,862) (1,239,927) 11 (7,840) (101,078) 514,956
- - - - 250,000 -
111,416 - - - - -
- (111,416) - - - -
- 5,305,000 - - - -
- (79,575) - - - -
111,416 5,114,009 - - 250,000 -
82,554 3,874,082 11 (7,840) 148,922 514,956
2,282,003 - 955 13,054 388,959 2,650,692
$ 2,364,557 $ 3,874,082 $ 966 $ 5,214 $ 537,881 $ 3,165,648

38



EXHIBIT B-3 (continued)

Revenues:
Property taxes
Special assessments
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental:
Federal revenue
State revenue
Local revenue
Charges for services
Fines and fees
Interest
Sale of property
Miscellaneous

Total revenue

Expenditures:
General government
Public safety
City development
Highways and streets
Recreation and culture
Sanitation

Economic development
Community development

Capital projects
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Other

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):

Settlement agreement
Transfers in
Transfers out

Proceeds from sale of bonds
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent
Bond premiums/(discounts)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and financing
sources over expenditures and other uses

Fund balance - beginning of year

Fund balance - end of year

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Capital Projects Funds

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Sewer
Plant
Expansion

Tax Increment
Finance
Authority

Downtown
Development
Authority
Construction

Total
Governmental
Funds

$ 508,661

$ 87,229,169
1,055,385
1,759,663

2,161,955
23,254,107
751,756
3,476,265
7,579,592
995,060
127,733
6,959,756

135,350,441

259,482

25,841,058
62,529,660
6,193,666
10,772,638
11,009,604
10,475,172
2,094,912
2,079,851
1,415,169

4,586,417
4,668,984
84,021

80,543

259,482

141,751,152

437,897

(209,610)

(6,400,711)

(96,828)

(188,290)

23,485
11,157,641
(11,410,733)

5,305,000

(79,575)

(96,828)

(188,290)

4,995,818

(96,828)

96,828

249,607

1,131,516

(209,610)

2,707,231

(1,404,893)

102,639,079

$ 1,381,123

$

2,497,621

$ 101,234,186
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City of Warren, Michigan
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
June 30, 2009

Net change in fund balances - governmental funds (Exhibit B-3)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities differ due to:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in
the statement of activities these items are capitalized and the costs of those
assets are allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation.

Capitalized assets $
Depreciation

In the statement of activities, the gain or loss on the sale of capital assets
is reported, whereas in the governmental funds, only the proceeds from the
sale are reported.

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt
consumes current financial resources. Neither transaction, however, has
any effect on net assets.

Issuance on long-term debt $
Principal payment on long-term debt

Governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums,
discounts and advance refunding charges when long-term debt is issued,
whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of
activities.

Bond issuance costs, net of amortization $
Bond discounts, net of amortization
Deferred refunding charges, net of amortization

Accrued interest expense on long-term debt does not require the use of
current financial resources and, therefore, is not reported as an expenditure
in the governmental funds.

Changes in accumulated employee compensated absences and
compensatory time, as well as estimated general insurance claims, are
recorded when earned or incurred in the statement of activities.

Compensated absences $

Compensatory time

Insurance claims

In the governmental funds, revenues from certain long-term receivables are
only reported upon receipt of the proceeds.
Community Development Block Grant loans $
Special assessments

Property tax revenues were adjusted to reflect the current year
amortization of a settlement agreement that will eliminate certain delinquent
taxes receivable over a period of multiple fiscal years .

Change in net assets - governmental activities (Exhibit A-2)

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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5,243,916

(8,370,480)

(5,305,000)

4,586,417

(5,979)
27,348

(33,246)

166,230
(149,379)

(433,834)

252,485

(187,876)

Exhibit B-4

$  (1,404,893)

(3,126,564)

(243,231)

(718,583)

(11,877)

(66,797)

(416,983)

64,609

214,000

$ (5710319



EXHIBIT B-5

Assets
Current assets - unrestricted
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable
Accrued interest on investments
Due from other funds
Land contract interest receivable
Materials and supplies inventory - at cost
Prepaid expenses

Total current assets - unrestricted

Current assets - restricted
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from unrestricted
Due from other funds
Designated for future projects

Total current assets - restricted

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:

Bond issuance costs
Land contract receivable
Property, plant and equipment at cost:
Land
Building and improvements
Utility system
Machinery, equipment and furniture
Total property, plant and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation

Net property, plant and equipment

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

(Continued)

Note:

(1) For fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2009

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and Senior Citizen Housing Funds
Sewer Stilwell Jos. Coach
System (1) Manor Manor Totals
$ 3,385,034 $ 2,026,045 $ 624,992 $ 6,036,071
- - 1,722,207 1,722,207
10,877,066 704 3,270 10,881,040
292 162 1,486 1,940
7,540 225 - 7,765
11,637 - - 11,637
239,795 - - 239,795
29,400 2,303 - 31,703
14,550,764 2,029,439 2,351,955 18,932,158
6,788,159 47,449 140,271 6,975,879
4,398,330 - - 4,398,330
1,079,210 - - 1,079,210
1,104,363 - - 1,104,363
13,370,062 47,449 140,271 13,557,782
27,920,826 2,076,888 2,492,226 32,489,940
- - 130,976 130,976
387,897 - - 387,897
605,219 221,644 - 826,863
63,133,850 2,994,301 9,905,821 76,033,972
114,483,271 - - 114,483,271
12,534,182 289,408 1,101,169 13,924,759
190,756,522 3,505,353 11,006,990 205,268,865
(85,585,559) (2,533,117) (3,858,021) (91,976,697)
105,170,963 972,236 7,148,969 113,292,168
105,558,860 972,236 7,279,945 113,811,041
$ 133,479,686 $ 3,049,124 $ 9,772,171 $ 146,300,981
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Liabilities

Current liabilities - unrestricted:
Accounts payable
Payable to restricted
Accrued wages payable
Payroll taxes and deductions
Due to other funds
Building Authority bonds - current
Revenue bonds payable - current
Accrued interest payable
Deferred revenue
Customer deposits

Total current liabilities - unrestricted

Current liabilities - restricted:
Accounts payable
Accrued interest payable
Building Authority bonds payable
Construction contracts to be
performed in future periods
Tenant security deposits

Total current liabilities - restricted
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities - unrestricted:
Accumulative sick leave
Accumulative compensatory time
Revenue bonds payable
Building Authority bonds payable
Unamortized bond premium / (discount)
Deferred refunding charge

Total noncurrent liabilities - unrestricted

Noncurrent liabilities - restricted:
Building Authority bonds payable
Unamortized bond discount

Total noncurrent liabilities - restricted assets
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted for:
Debt service
Construction
Insurance claims
Unrestricted net assets

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

EXHIBIT B-5 (continued)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and Senior Citizen Housing Funds
Sewer Stilwell Jos. Coach
System (1) Manor Manor Totals

$ 1,967,551 $ 18,426 $ 28,299 $ 2,014,276
4,398,330 - - 4,398,330
96,946 11,521 1,505 109,972
95,349 - - 95,349
1,303,296 23,482 277,461 1,604,239
- - 625,000 625,000
2,644,082 - - 2,644,082
- - 46,360 46,360
135,884 - - 135,884
10,641,438 53,429 978,625 11,673,492
598,659 - - 598,659
345,150 - - 345,150
42,605 - - 42,605
1,104,363 - - 1,104,363
- 47,449 140,271 187,720
2,090,777 47,449 140,271 2,278,497
12,732,215 100,878 1,118,896 13,951,989
1,487,430 17,808 - 1,505,238
139,118 8,884 - 148,002
49,750,543 - - 49,750,543
- - 5,930,000 5,930,000
(201,631) - 152,202 (49,429)
(1,757,083) - (435,718) (2,192,801)
49,418,377 26,692 5,646,484 55,091,553
(106) - - (106)
(106) - - (106)
49,418,271 26,692 5,646,484 55,091,447
62,150,486 127,570 6,765,380 69,043,436
56,090,337 972,236 593,969 57,656,542
6,650,731 - - 6,650,731
4,628,660 - - 4,628,660
500,000 - - 500,000
3,459,472 1,949,318 2,412,822 7,821,612
71,329,200 2,921,554 3,006,791 77,257,545
$ 133,479,686 $ 3,049,124 $ 9,772,171 $ 146,300,981
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EXHIBIT B-6
CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and Senior Citizen Housing Funds
Sewer Stilwell Jos. Coach
System (1) Manor Manor Totals
Operating revenues:
Charges for services $ 30,465,234 $ - $ - $ 30,465,234
Rental revenues - 473,881 998,977 1,472,858
Maintenance revenues - - 356,207 356,207
Other operating revenues - 344,133 10,813 354,946
Total operating revenues 30,465,234 818,014 1,365,997 32,649,245
Operating expenses:
Water purchases 6,920,391 - - 6,920,391
Personal services 12,697,278 409,547 49,750 13,156,575
Contractual services - 28,459 42,183 70,642
Materials and supplies 866,527 26,077 31,851 924,455
Utilities - 133,826 75,314 209,140
Other services and charges 6,610,754 187,905 380,805 7,179,464
Depreciation 4,279,950 88,985 169,588 4,538,523
Total operating expenses 31,374,900 874,799 749,491 32,999,190
Operating income (loss) (909,666) (56,785) 616,506 (349,945)
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest income 271,749 18,265 34,596 324,610
Interest expense (2,057,369) - (323,541) (2,380,910)
Bond issuance costs - - (17,860) (17,860)
Fiscal charges - - (241) (241)
Gain / (loss) on disposal of assets - - - -
Other revenue / (expense) - - - -
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (1,785,620) 18,265 (307,046) (2,074,401)
Net income (loss) (2,695,286) (38,520) 309,460 (2,424,346)
Net assets - beginning of year 74,024,486 2,960,074 2,697,331 79,681,891
Net assets - end of year $ 71,329,200 $ 2,921,554 $ 3,006,791 $ 77,257,545

Note:
(1) For fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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EXHIBIT B-7

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and Senior Citizen Housing Funds
Sewer Stilwell Jos. Coach
System (1) Manor Manor Totals
Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from customers $ 27,431,463 $ 479,799 $ 1,356,322 $ 29,267,584
Cash payments to suppliers for
goods and services (14,772,765) (429,979) (74,181) (15,276,925)
Cash payments to employees for services (12,944,686) (418,382) (50,773) (13,413,841)
Other operating revenues / expenses 1,817,927 337,396 (331,455) 1,823,868
Net cash provided by (used for)
operating activities 1,531,939 (31,166) 899,913 2,400,686
Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities:
Other income - - - -
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (1,871,274) - - (1,871,274)
Debt issuance less debt principal payments (2,559,829) - (620,000) (3,179,829)
Debt interest, issuance costs and fiscal charges (1,902,657) - (288,479) (2,191,136)
Net cash provided by (used for) capital
and related financing activities (6,333,760) - (908,479) (7,242,239)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest on investments 271,629 21,197 33,887 326,713
Net cash provided by (used for)
investing activities 271,629 21,197 33,887 326,713
Net increase (decrease) in
cash and cash equivalents (4,530,192) (9,969) 25,321 (4,514,840)
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 14,703,385 2,083,463 2,462,149 19,248,997
Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $ 10,173,193 $ 2,073,494 $ 2,487,470 $ 14,734,157
(Continued)
Notes:

(1) For fiscal year ended December 31, 2008

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Reconciliation of operating income to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile income to net

cash provided by (used for) operating activities:

Depreciation

Other income

Change in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in grants receivable
(Increase) decrease in interest receivable
(Increase) decrease in interfund receivables
(Increase) decrease in inventory
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in

wages and benefits payable

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits
Increase (decrease) in interfund payables
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

Note:

(1) For fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009

EXHIBIT B-7 (continued)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Water and Senior Citizen Housing Funds
Sewer Stilwell Jos. Coach
System (1) Manor Manor Totals
$ (909,666) $ (56,785) $ 616,506 $ (349,945)
4,279,950 88,985 169,588 4,538,523
(1,215,801) 1,175 (1,086) (1,215,712)
2,504 - - 2,504
(40) (225) - (265)
(53,519) - - (53,519)
(13,141) (17,097) (26,412) (56,650)
(275,722) (8,835) (1,023) (285,580)
28,317 (2,499) - 26,818
(2,507) 1,120 (1,449) (2,836)
(308,436) (35,116) 150,929 (192,623)
- (2,889) (7,140) (10,029)
2,441,605 25,619 283,407 2,750,631
$ 1,531,939 $ (31,166) $ 899,913 $ 2,400,686
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EXHIBIT B-8

CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
June 30, 2009

Pension and Other
Employee Benefit
Trust Funds (1)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,068,850
Receivables:
Investment sales -
Accrued interest and dividends 1,867,150
Other 5,260
Prepaid expenses 135,956
Due from other funds -
Investments, at fair value:
Securities lending short-term collateral investment pool 36,365,480
Short-term cash management funds 25,124,134
Certificates of deposit 3,643,354
U.S. government obligations 25,478,232
U.S. government agencies' notes and debentures 33,904,370
Corporate and other bonds and securities 77,847,569
Fixed income mutual funds 5,058,496
Equities 142,041,225
Equity mutual funds 40,189,668
Real estate investment trusts 4,306,067
Private equity 2,489,608
Hedge funds 3,081,687
Distressed debt recovery fund 1,217,839
Mezzanine debt financing 1,143,971
Total investments 401,891,700
Total assets 404,968,916
Liabilities
Accounts payable 2,919,955
Investment purchases 388,709
Due broker under securities lending agreement 37,050,593
Due to other funds 6,626,279
Accrued medical claims 916,918
Deposits and escrows -
Due to other governmental units -
Total liabilities 47,902,454
Net assets
Held in trust for pension and other employee benefits $ 357,066,462
Note:

(1) Fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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2,286,019

149,664

12,581

2,448,270
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17,271

158,936
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EXHIBIT B-9
CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2009
Pension and Other

Employee Benefit
Trust Funds (1)

Additions:
Contributions:
Employee contributions $ 612,043
Employer contributions 30,446,951
Employer contributions made on behalf of employees 1,094,806
Total contributions 32,153,800

Investment activity:

Net appreciation/(depreciation) in fair value of investments (136,392,176)
Interest and dividend income 13,859,774
(122,532,402)

Less investment expense (2,113,823)
Net investment gain/(loss) (124,646,225)

Securities lending income:

Interest and fees 1,714,138
Less borrower rebates and bank fees (1,184,519)
Recognition of impaired asset (865,021)
Net securities lending income (335,402)
Miscellaneous income 24,829
Total additions (92,802,998)
Deductions:
Retirees' pension benefits 32,978,804
Retirees' health insurance 14,145,699
Refunds and withdrawals of contributions 1,694,512
Incentive bonuses 10,000
Administrative expense 727,375
Total deductions 49,556,390
Net increase (decrease) (142,359,388)

Net assets held in trust for pension and other employee benefits:

Beginning of year 499,425,850
End of year $ 357,066,462
Note:

(1) Fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2009

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The City of Warren, formerly Warren Township, was incorporated January 1, 1957, under the provisions of Act 279, P.A. 1909
as amended (Home Rule Act). The City is administered by a Mayor, Council of nine members, Treasurer and Clerk, all of
whom are elected for four-year terms. The City provides the following services as authorized by its charter: public safety
(police and fire), highways and streets, sanitation, recreation, library, planning and zoning and general administrative services.

The City's financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The
Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is responsible for establishing GAAP for state and local governments
through its pronouncements. Governments are also required to follow pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued through November 30, 1989 (when applicable) that do not conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements. Although the City has the option to apply FASB pronouncements issued after that date to its business-type
activities and enterprise funds, the City has not chosen to do so.

In June 1999, the GASB issued Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements — and Management Discussion and Analysis —
for State and Local Governments. Significant changes in the Statement include the following:

1.) A Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) section providing an analysis of the City’s overall financial
position and results of operations

2.) Financial statements prepared using both full accrual and modified accrual, inclusive of a reconciliation between
the two accounting methods.

3.) A change in the fund financial statements to focus on the reporting entity’s major funds.

The City has elected to report all governmental and proprietary funds as major funds in the fund financial statements. In
addition, the budget-to-actual data that appears in the Required Supplemental Information section of this report is far more
detailed than required under the provisions of GASB Statement No. 34. These elections were made to provide the City's
elected officials, department heads, financial administration and other users of this report a greater degree of detailed financial
information to manage and evaluate the City’s operations.

1. REPORTING ENTITY

The financial statements of the reporting entity include those of the City of Warren (the primary government) and its
component units, entities for which the City is considered to be financially responsible. Blended component units, although
legally separate entities, are in substance part of the City's operations and data for these units is combined with the data of
the primary government. The following entities are considered blended component units of the City due to either the
Authority existing for the exclusive benefit of the City itself or due to the degree of City Council oversight in adopting the
Authority’s plan, approving the issuance and repayment of debt, or in cases adopting the Authority’'s annual operating
budget.

The City of Warren Building Authority was incorporated, pursuant to the provisions of Act 31, Public Acts of
Michigan, 1948, as amended, and approved by the Warren City Council for the purpose of acquiring, furnishing,
equipping and maintaining buildings, structures and sites for use by the City. The Authority is governed by a
Commission consisting of three members who are appointed by the Mayor and the City Council. All contracts
entered into by the Authority must be approved by the City Council. The City has pledged its full faith and credit for
payment of annual lease payments to the Authority in order to satisfy principal and interest requirements from
issuance of Building Authority Bonds. The City of Warren Building Authority is reported within the Enterprise and
Capital Projects funds.

The Tax Increment Finance Authority of the City of Warren was established pursuant to Act 450 of the Michigan
Public Acts of 1980, and approved by the Warren City Council to prevent urban deterioration, encourage economic
development and historic preservation within a defined geographic area of the City of Warren. The Authority is
governed by a Board of Directors consisting of eight members who are appointed by the Mayor subject to the
approval of the City Council. The City has pledged its full faith and credit for payment of principal and interest
requirements from issuance of Tax Increment Finance Authority Bonds. The Tax Increment Finance Authority is
reported as a Capital Projects fund.

(Continued)
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CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2009

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. REPORTING ENTITY (continued)

The Downtown Development Authority of the City of Warren was established pursuant to Act 197 of the Public
Acts of Michigan, 1975, as amended, and approved by the Warren City Council to prevent property value
deterioration, eliminate the causes of that deterioration, increase property tax valuation where possible and improve
economic growth in the business district of the City. The Authority is governed by a Board of Directors which
consists of the Mayor plus eight members appointed by the Mayor subject to the approval of the City Council. The
Downtown Development Authority is reported within the Special Revenue and Capital Project funds.

The Brownfield Redevelopment Authority was established pursuant to Act 381 of the Public Acts of Michigan,
1996, as amended. The Act allows municipalities to establish the Authority, adopt brownfield redevelopment
financing plans, and capture incremental local and school property taxes from redeveloped properties to pay for the
environmental costs associated with those properties. The Act as amended in 2000 expanded the definition of
brownfield properties to included not only contaminated but also blighted or functionally obsolete properties and
also expanded eligible activities to include infrastructure improvements, demolition, lead and asbestos abatement
as well site preparation.

Additional Information for each of the individual component units may be obtained at the entity’s administrative offices:

Downtown Development Authority &

Building Authority Tax Increment Finance Authority Brownfield Redevelopment Authority
Council Office Mayor’s Office Planning Department
5460 Arden One City Square, Suite 215 One City Square, Suite 315
Warren, M| 48092 Warren, Ml 48093-6726 Warren, Ml 48093-5283

2. GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement of activities) report
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units. The statements are
prepared on a full accrual, economic resource basis, which recognizes all long-term assets and receivables as well as long-
term debt and obligations. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues,
are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.
Both, governmental activities and business-type activities are reported on a consolidated basis. The City’s business-type
activities include the operations of the Water and Sewer System and the Senior Citizen Housing complex. All other activities
of the City, including police and fire protection, recreation, sanitation, library, public works, etc., are considered governmental
activities.

For the most part, interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. Exceptions are
payments-in-lieu of taxes, water purchases and other charges between the proprietary funds and other governmental funds.
Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions
concerned.

The statement of net assets reports net assets in three parts — invested in capital assets, net of related debt; restricted net
assets; and unrestricted net assets. The City first utilizes restricted resources to finance qualifying activities.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment is offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program
revenues include 1) charges to customers who purchase, use, or directly benefit from the goods or services provided 2)
operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Taxes and other items not properly included
among program revenues are reported as general revenues.

The City does not allocate indirect expenses. An administrative service fee is charged by the general fund to other funds to
recover direct costs such as finance, personnel, purchasing, legal costs, etc., incurred by the general fund. This
reimbursement is eliminated by the reducing corresponding revenues and expenses in the general fund.

(Continued)
49



CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2009

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3. FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial transactions of the City are organized on the basis of funds. The operations of each fund are accounted for
with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures, or
expenses as appropriate.

The following fund types are used by the City:
Governmental Funds

The governmental funds measurement focus in the fund financial statements is based upon determination of financial
position and changes in financial position (sources, uses, and balances of financial resources) rather than upon net income.
The following is a description of the governmental funds of the City.

General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all financial resources except those
required to be accounted for in another fund.

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted to
expenditures for specified purposes.

Debt Service Funds are used to account for the accumulation of funds for the periodic payment of principal and
interest on general long-term debt.

Capital Projects Funds account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or construction of major capital
facilities, other than those financed by proprietary funds.

Proprietary Funds

The proprietary funds measurement focus is based upon determining operating income, changes in net assets, financial
position, and cash flows. The generally accepted accounting principles applicable are those similar to businesses in the
private sector. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. Operating expenses include the cost of sales and services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation of capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
nonoperating revenues and expenses. The following is a description of proprietary funds of the City:

Enterprise funds are required to be used to account for operations for which a fee is charged to external users for
goods and services and the activity (a) is financed with debt that is solely secured by the pledge of the net revenues, (b)
has third party requirements that the cost of providing services, including capital costs, be recovered with fees and
charges or (c) establishes fees and charges based on the pricing policy designed to recover similar costs.

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary Funds are used to report assets held in a trustee or agency capacity for others and therefore are not available to
support City programs. The reporting focus is on net assets and changes in net assets and is reported using accounting
principles similar to proprietary funds.

4. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Basis of accounting refers to the point at which revenues or expenditures/expenses are recognized in the accounts and

reported in the financial statements. It relates to the timing of the measurements made regardless of the measurement
focus applied.

(Continued)
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CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2009

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING (continued)
Accrual

Both governmental and business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary and
fiduciary fund financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned
and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred.

Modified Accrual

The governmental fund financial statements are presented on the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual; i.e., both measurable and available.
Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current
period. For this purpose, the City considers revenue to be available if they are collected within 90 days of the end of the
current period. Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related
liability is incurred. However, debt service payments expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated
absences and claims and judgements, are recognized when due.

5. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City has defined cash and cash equivalents to include cash on hand, demand deposits, short-term investment pools,
and certificates of deposit with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Investments

Investments, including pension funds, are stated at fair value.

Receivables

During the course of its operations, the City has numerous transactions between funds to finance operations, provide
services, construct assets and service debt. To the extent that certain transactions between funds had not been paid or
received as of the fiscal year end, balances are reported as “due to / due from other funds” in the governmental funds
financial statements. These amounts are eliminated on the government-wide financial statements. Any residual balances
outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial
statements as “internal balances”.

Property taxes and interest earnings are considered susceptible to accrual and are recognized as revenues of the current
fiscal period. However, delinquent property taxes are reported as a reservation of fund balance in the governmental fund
financial statements because they are not available to pay current liabilities.

Only the portion of special assessments collected within the current fiscal year is considered as revenue in the governmental
fund financial statements. The remaining balance of special assessment receivables is recorded as deferred revenue.

Inventories and prepaid items

All inventories are valued at cost using the first-in / first-out (FIFO) method. Inventories are recorded as expenditures when
consumed rather than when purchased.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items.

Inventories and prepaid items are reported as a reservation of fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements
because they are not available to pay current liabilities.

(Continued)
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CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2009

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
5. ASSETS, LIABILITIES, AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (continued)
Capital assets
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets, are reported in the applicable
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined
by the City as assets with an initial individual cost of at least $5,000. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair

market value at the date of donation.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the asset’s useful
life are not capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated using the straight line method over the following estimated lives:

Buildings 40 - 60 years
Water and sewer mains 50 years
Machinery and equipment 5 - 25 years
Land improvements 20 years
Road system 12 - 50 years

Compensated absences and compensatory time

All full-time employees of the City earn one sick leave day for each month of service rendered, not to exceed twelve days in
any calendar year. Employees are allowed to accumulate anywhere from 27 days to 225 days depending upon their hire
date, union affiliation and pension plan participation. Upon retirement, most employees are paid eighty percent of their
accumulated sick bank.

Employees are allowed to accumulate compensatory time in lieu of receiving overtime pay. Compensatory time is allowed to
accumulate to a maximum of 150 hours.

Compensated absences and compensatory time, inclusive of associated payroll taxes and benefits, are accrued in the
government-wide financial statements.

The governmental fund financial statements report a designation of fund balance for compensated absences and
compensatory time to the extent that budget appropriations have been approved to fund this noncurrent liability.

Long-term debt

In the government-wide financial statements, and the proprietary fund type financial statements, long-term debt and other
long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or
proprietary fund type Statement of Net Assets. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and
amortized over the life of the bonds.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond proceeds, premiums, discounts and issuance
costs, in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances in the current period. The face amount
of the debt issued is reported as other financing sources.

Fund equity
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report reservations of fund balance for amounts that are not available

for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties for a specific purpose. Designations of fund balance represent
tentative management plans that are subject to change.

(Continued)
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CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2009

A. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
6. ENCUMBRANCES

Budgets in governmental funds and proprietary funds are encumbered upon issuance of purchase orders, contracts or other
forms of legal commitments. Appropriations for the fiscal year lapse every June 30. However, management does restrict
“unreserved fund balance designated for the subsequent year's expenditures” by the amount of material expenditures for
goods and services which were ordered, budgeted and appropriated at year end but which had not been received or
completed at that date. City Council, by separate resolution, reappropriates funds in the subsequent year to complete these
transactions.

B. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

1. BUDGETARY DATA

Annual balanced budgets are adopted for the General, Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds as required by the
Michigan Public Act 621 of 1978, the Uniform Budgeting and Accounting Act. Budgets were not formally adopted for Tax
Increment Finance Authority, Building Authority, Downtown Development Authority or Special Assessment Debt Service
Funds. Although not required, budgets were formally adopted for the Water and Sewer System and Senior Citizen Housing
Proprietary Funds as well as the Sewer Plant Expansion and 37" District Court Building Renovation Capital Projects Funds
to assist management in monitoring operations.

The City Council follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:

Not later than the second Monday in April of each year, the Mayor shall submit to the Council a recommended budget
for the next fiscal year.

The recommended budget of the Mayor, together with his supporting schedules, information and messages, shall be
reviewed by the Council.

A public hearing on the budget shall be held not less than one week before its final adoption.

Not later than the third Monday in May of each year, the Council shall, by resolution, adopt a budget for the ensuing
fiscal year in accordance with the Michigan Uniform Budgeting and Accounting Act.

Budgets for the General, Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds were adopted on the modified accrual basis of
accounting consistent with generally accepted accounting principles.

2. EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS

The City Council, by resolution, adopted the fiscal year 2009 budget on a budgetary center basis for all city departments,
divisions, boards, commissions and other activities. Subsequently, management must seek approval from the City Council
to amend any budgetary center's budget during the fiscal year. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, there were no
budgetary centers in excess of the approved budget.

(Continued)
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CITY OF WARREN, MICHIGAN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2009

C. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS
1. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The provisions of GASB statement No. 40 require the following disclosures regarding the City’s and its blended component
units and fiduciary funds deposits and investments and their exposure to various risks (custodial credit, credit, interest rate,
foreign currency and concentration).

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a failure of a depository financial institution, the City will not be
able to recover deposits or collateral securities that are in possession of an outside party. Custodial credit risk disclosures
for the City’'s demand accounts and certificates of deposit are as follows:

Demand Certificates

Accounts of Deposit Total
General City (excluding Water and Sewer System) $ 3,077,742 $ 3,250,000 $ 6,327,742
Plus outstanding checks 946,254 - 946,254
Less deposits in transit ( 27,130) - ( 27,130)
$ 3,996,866 $ 3,250,000 $ 7,246,866
FDIC insured 652,940 500,000 1,152,940
Uninsured and uncollateralized 3,343,926 2,750,000 6,093,926
Water and Sewer System (as of December 31, 2008) $ 302,390 $ 100,000 $ 402,390
Plus outstanding checks 193,489 - 193,489
Less deposits in transit (_ 330,872) - (_330,872)

$ 165,007 $ 100,000 $ 265,007

FDIC insured (1) - - -
Uninsured and uncollateralized 165,007 100,000 265,007

Building Authority $ 1,220,571 $ 1,722,207 $ 2,942,778
Plus outstanding checks 10,701 - 10,701

$ 1,231,272 $ 1,722,207 $ 2,953,479

FDIC insured 250,766 250,000 500,766
Uninsured and uncollateralized 980,506 1,472,207 2,452,713
Tax Increment Finance Authority $ 621 $ - $ 621
Plus outstanding checks 127,175 - 127,175

$ 127,796 $ - $ 127,796

FDIC insured 127,796 - 127,796
Uninsured and uncollateralized - - -
Downtown Development Authority $ 8,521,621 $ 1,754,262 $ 10,275,883
Plus outstanding checks 1,293 - 1,293

$ 8522914 $ 1,754,262 $10,277,176

FDIC insured 258,139 250,000 508,139
Uninsured and uncollateralized 8,264,775 1,504,262 9,769,037

(1) The Water and Sewer System utilizes the same depositories as other City funds. Accordingly, their demand accounts
and certificates of deposit should be considered predominately uninsured and uncollateralized.

Due to the amount of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC insurance, the City has determined that it is impractical to insure
all deposits. The Controller evaluates each financial institution used as a depository for City funds and assesses the level of
risk of each institution.
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JUNE 30, 2009

C. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS
1.DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that in the event of a failure of the counterparty to a transaction, the City will
not be able to recover the value of the investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.
Investment securities are exposed to custodial credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the
City, and are held by either the counterparty or the counterparty’s trust department or agent but not in the name of the City.
Investments in external investment pools and open-end mutual funds are not exposed to custodial credit risk because their
existence is not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book entry form. None of the City’s investments were
exposed to custodial credit risk.

The City’s investments in debt securities are exposed to credit and interest rate risks. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or
other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will
adversely affect the fair value of an investment. Investments in mutual funds, external investment pools, or other pooled
investments that meet the definition of a 2a7-like pool are not subject to interest rate disclosure.

Credit and interest rate risk disclosures for the City’s short-term cash management funds is as follows:

Amount 2a-7 Weighted
Invested Rating Like Ave. Maturity
General City (excluding Water and Sewer System):

JPMorgan Chase — Michigan Governmental MMF $ 18,724,977 Moody’s Aaa Yes Not Applicable
Banc of America—Fidelity Instl Cash Portfolio Govt ClI 5,124,242 Moody’'s Aaa Yes Not Applicable
National City — Municipal Investment Fund 241,000 Not Rated No 45 days
Huntington Bank — Automated Funds Investment 8,385,543 Not Rated No Not Available
MBIA — Michigan Class 186,812 S&P AAA Yes Not Applicable
Comerica — Government Cash Investment Fund 21,018,722 Not Rated Yes Not Applicable

Water and Sewer System (as of December 31, 2008):

$53,681,296

Comerica — Government Cash Investment Fund $ 9,729,153 Not rated Yes Not Applicable
National City — Municipal Investment Fund 41,000 Not rated No 45 days
$ 9,770,153
Building Authority:
Comerica — Government Cash Investment Fund $ 3,182 Not Rated Yes Not Applicable
Tax Increment Finance Authority:
Comerica — Government Cash Investment Fund $ 1,446,799 Not Rated Yes Not Applicable
Downtown Development Authority:
JPMorgan Chase — Michigan Governmental MMF $ 31,063 Moody's Aaa Yes Not Applicable
Fifth Third Institutional Money Market Trust 1,343,322 S&P AAA Yes Not Applicable
$ 1,374,385

Credit and interest rate risk disclosure for debt investments, other than short-term cash management funds is as follows:

General City: Fair value Credit Rating Maturity
United States Treasury Bills $ 19,999,300 US Government 28 days
Downtown Development Authority:
Federal National Mortgage Association Note $ 352,450 US Govt Agency 180 days

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment or
deposit. None of the City’s investments or deposits has exposure to foreign currency risk.

Concentration risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of an investment in a singular issuer. Concentration risk is
subject to disclosure when investment in any one issuer represents 5 percent or more of total investments. Investments
issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and investments in mutual funds, external investment pools and
other pooled investments are excluded. None of the City’s investments were subject to concentration risk disclosure.
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Deposits and Investments of the Pension, VEBA and QEBA Trust Funds are summarized as follows:
City Employees' Retirement System:

The Board of Trustees of the Employees' Retirement System is authorized by Act No. 314 of the Public Acts of Michigan of
1965, as amended, to make investments in stocks, bonds, or other evidences of indebtedness, that in its judgment it may
deem proper to purchase as an investment. The Employees' Retirement System Board of Trustees has contracted with
independent investment firms to manage the system's investment portfolio.

As permitted under state statutes, the System is authorized to participate in securities lending transactions. The System
entered into an agreement with Comerica Bank to lend its securities to broker-dealers and banks pursuant to the loan
agreement.

During the fiscal year, Comerica Bank at the direction of the System lent securities and received United States currency as
collateral. Borrowers were required to deliver collateral for each loan equal to at least one hundred percent (100%) of the
market value of the loaned securities.

The System did not impose any restrictions during the fiscal year on the amount of the loans that Comerica Bank made on
its behalf. There were no failures by any borrowers to return loaned securities or pay distributions thereon during the fiscal
year. There were no losses to the System or Comerica Bank during the fiscal year resulting from default of the borrowers.

During the fiscal year, the System and the borrower maintained the right to terminate all securities lending transactions on
demand. The cash collateral received on each loan was invested, together with the cash collateral of other lenders, in a
pool. The average duration of such investment pool as of December 31, 2008 was 65 days. Because the loans could
terminate on demand, their duration did not generally match the duration of the investments made with the cash collateral.
The collateral’s cost and the fair value of the underlying securities on loan for the System as of December 31, 2008 was
$4,361,799 and $4,209,238 respectively.

Custodial credit risk for deposits. Cash balances, without recognizing checks issued but not cashed, at December 31, 2008,
excluding impress funds, were $24,840. All deposits were covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

Custodial credit risk for investments. At December 31, 2008, none of the System'’s investments were exposed to custodial
credit risk.

Credit and interest rate risk. To minimize exposure to these risks, the System has implemented the following policies for its
fixed income investments: 1.) a maximum investment of 30 percent in bonds rated BBB, the balance in investment grade
bonds rated A or better; 2.) may only invest in commercial paper maturing within 270 days of any domestic issuer provided
such commercial paper be rated Al or equivalent; and 3.) a weighted average portfolio maturity not to exceed 10 years.

Credit and interest rate risk disclosure for the System’s short-term cash management funds are as follows:

Ave.
Fair 2a-7  Weighted
Short-term cash management funds: Value Rating Like Maturity
Comerica Short-term Fund Series C $ 8,926,777 Not Rated Yes Not applicable
Government Agency Repurchase Agreement 1,001,115 Not Rated No Overnight

$9,927,892
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Credit and interest rate risk disclosure for debt investments, other than short-term cash management funds is as follows:

Fair
Credit Ratings: Value Percentage
U.S. government $ 4,637,713 9.41%
U.S. government agencies 6,895,600 14.00%
Other debt securities as
rated by Standard & Poors:
AAA 6,817,864 13.84%
AA+ 257,943 0.52%
AA 920,948 1.87%
AA- 3,574,725 7.26%
A+ 8,692,744 17.65%
A 10,680,751 21.68%
A- 4,465,945 9.07%
BBB+ 200,796 0.41%
BBB 960,180 1.95%
BBB- 529,690 1.08%
BB- 59,150 0.12%
B+ 185,212 0.38%
B- 128,645 0.26%
CCC 213,657 0.43%
Not rated 41,162 0.07%
$ 49,262,725 100.00%
Maturity Range
Interest Rate Risk: 0—5 Years 5—15 Years > 15 Years
U.S. government $ 518,145 $ 3,259,222 $ 860,346
U.S. government agencies 3,400,831 3,402,614 92,155
Other debt securities 15,643,573 16,910,275 5,175,564
$ 19,562,549 $ 23,572,111 $ 6,128,065
39.71% 47.85% 12.44%

Foreign currency risk. None of the System’s investments have exposure to foreign currency risk.

Concentration risk. None of the System’s investments are subject to concentration risk disclosure.
Police and Fire Retirement System:

The Police and Fire Retirement System is authorized by Michigan Public Act 314 of 1965, as amended, to invest in certain
reverse purchase agreements, stocks, diversified investment companies, annuity investment contracts, real estate leased to
public entities, mortgages, real estate, debt or equity of certain small businesses, certain state and local government
obligations and certain other specified investment vehicles. The System’s deposits and investment policies are in
accordance with statutory authority.

As permitted by state statutes and under the provisions of securities lending authorization agreements, the System lends
securities to broker-dealers and banks for collateral that will be returned for the same securities in the future. The System’s
securities custodians manage the securities lending program and receive cash, government securities, or irrevocable bank
letters of credit as collateral. Borrowers are required to deliver collateral for each loan of not less than 100 percent of the
market value of the loaned securities. During the year ended December 31, 2008, only United States currency was received
as collateral.
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The System did not impose any restrictions during the year on the amount of loans made on its behalf by securities
custodians. There were no failures by any borrowers to return loaned securities or pay distributions thereon during the fiscal
year. Moreover, there were no losses during the fiscal year resulting from a default of the borrowers or securities
custodians. However, the System did recognize a loss of approximately $685,000 during the year as a result of the decline
in values of loaned securities.

All securities loans can be terminated on demand by either the System or the borrower. The cash collateral received on
each loan was invested, together with the cash collateral of other lenders, in an investment pool. The average duration of
the investments held by the investment pool as of December 31, 2008 was 12 days. Because loans are terminable on
demand, their duration did not generally match the duration of the investments made with cash collateral. On
December 31, 2008, the System had no credit risk exposure to borrowers. The collateral held and the fair market value of
underlying securities on loan for the System as of December 31, 2008 was $32,688,794 and $31,777,771, respectively.

Custodial credit risk for deposits. The System does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At December 31,
2008, the Police and Fire Retirement System had deposits of $1,053,222, of which $500,000 is covered by federal
depository insurance. The System believes that due to the dollar amounts of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC
insurance, it is impractical to insure all deposits. As a result, the System evaluates each financial institution with which it
deposits funds and assesses the level of risk of each institution; only those with an acceptable estimated risk level are used
as depositories.

Credit risk. State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical
rating organizations. The System has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. As of December
31, 2007, the credit quality ratings of debt securities, other than the U.S. government, are as follows:

Fair
Credit Ratings: Value
(as rated by S&P):
AAA $ 32,853,000
AA 2,417,000
A 19,296,000
BBB 9,557,000
BB 44,000
CCC 33,000
Not rated 27,330,000

Interest rate risk. The System’s investment policy does not restrict investment maturities, other than commercial paper
which can only be purchased with a 270 day or less maturity. At December 31, 2008, the average maturities of investments
are as follows:

Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1-5yrs 6—10yrs More than 10
Asset backed $ 1,607,734 $ - $ 502,521 $ 187,853 $ 917,360
Corporate - Bonds 27,756,779 934,263 12,201,259 10,910,530 3,710,727
Corporate — CMO 1,339,997 82,732 - 61,911 1,195,354
Corp.— Private placement 1,029,660 31,485 631,530 3,714 362,931
Foreign — Bonds 3,229,922 22,032 1,214,102 1,414,313 579,475
Foreign — Gov't 5,516 - 5,516 - -
Municipal — Bonds 10,198 - 10,198 - -
U.S. Gov't — Agency 8,636,735 - 6,245,021 2,391,714 -
U.S. Gov't — CMO 198,417 - - - 198,417
U.S. Gov't — Mortgage backed 14,951,400 - - 87,908 14,863,492
U.S Gov't — Other 2,167,315 - - - 2,167,315
U.S. Gov't - TIPS 435,870 - 100,822 335,048 -
U.S. Gov't — Notes and bonds 20,958,705 - 11,733,514 4,478,516 4,746,675
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Foreign currency risk. The System restricts the amount of investments in foreign currency denominated investments to 5
percent of total pension system investments. The following securities are subject to foreign currency risk:

Security Foreign Currency Fair Value
Foreign stocks Euro $6,787,371
Swiss franc 2,200,929

Yen 4,629,826

UK pound 2,942,514

Hong Kong dollar 2,103,537

Israeli shekel 220,893

Norwegian krone 153,684

Swedish krona 291,174

Police and Fire VEBA Trust:

The Police and Fire Retirement Health Benefits Plan and Trust is authorized by Michigan Public Act 485 of 1996 to invest in
U.S bonds and notes, certain commercial paper, U.S. government repurchase agreements, bankers acceptances, mutual
funds and investment pools that are composed of authorized investment vehicles, certain reverse repurchase agreements,
stocks, diversified investment companies, annuity investment contracts, real estate leased to public entities, mortgages, debt
or equity of certain small businesses, certain state and local government obligations and certain other specified investment
vehicles.

Custodial credit risk for deposits. The Plan and Trust does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At December
31, 2008, the Plan and Trust had certificates of deposit of $3,643,354, of which $500,000 was covered by federal depository
insurance. The Plan and Trust believes that due to the dollar amounts of cash deposits and the limits of FDIC insurance, it
is impractical to insure all deposits. As a result, the Plan and Trust evaluates each financial institution with which it deposits
funds and assesses the level of risk of each institution; only those with an acceptable estimated risk level are used as
depositories.

Credit risk. State law limits investments in commercial paper to the top two ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical
rating organizations. The Plan and Trust has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. As of
December 31, 2008, the credit quality ratings of debt securities are as follows:

Rating
Investment Type Rating Fair Value Organization
Index funds BAA through AAA $ 2,593,547 Moody’s
Short-term cash management Aaa 2,106,982 Moody’s

Interest rate risk. The Plan and Trust's investment policy does not restrict investment maturities, other than commercial
paper which can only be purchased with a 270 day or less maturity. At December 31, 2008, the average maturity of the
bond index funds, valued at $2,593,547, was 5.40 years.
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City Employees’ VEBA Trust:

The Board of Trustees of the Employees' VEBA Trust is authorized by Act No. 314 of the Public Acts of Michigan of 1965,
as amended, to make investments in stocks, bonds, or other evidences of indebtedness, that in its judgment it may deem
proper to purchase as an investment. The Board of Trustees has contracted with independent investment firms to manage
the system's investment portfolio.

There were no outstanding deposits as of December 31, 2008.

None of the Trust’s investments were exposed to custodial credit, foreign currency or concentration risk. Credit and interest
rate risk disclosure for the Trust's investments in debt securities is as follows:

Fair 2a-7 Weighted
Value Rating Like Ave. Maturity
Short-term cash management funds:
Goldman Sachs FS Prime Obligations Fund $ 3,869,050 S&P AAAM Yes Not Applicable

Debt securities (other than short-term cash management funds):

Credit Fair Segmented Fair

Rating Value Percentage Time Distribution Value Percentage
U.S. government agencies $ 987,493 15.39% 0 - 5 years $ 3,366,336 52.46%
Other debt securities as 5-10 years 2,329,260 36.30%

rated by Standard & Poors: > 10 years 721,124 11.24%

AAA 971,636 15.14% $ 6,416,720 100.00%

AA+ 101,154 1.58%

AA 167,487 2.61%

AA- 501,575 7.82%

A+ 1,280,638 19.96%

A 1,416,314 22.07%

A- 576,607 8.99%

BBB+ 413,816 6.44%

$ 6,416,720 100.00%

City Employees’ QEBA Trust:
There were no outstanding deposits at December 31, 2007.

All of the QEBA Trust's investments are in short-term cash management funds. Credit and interest risk disclosures for the
short-term cash management funds are as follows:

Fair 2a-7 Weighted
Value Rating Like Ave. Maturity
Short-term cash management funds:
Goldman Sachs FS Prime Obligations Fund $ 9,630 S&P AAAmM Yes Not Applicable

External investment pools are excluded from disclosure of concentration of credit risk. None of the investments indicated
above have exposure to foreign currency risk.
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Delinquent tax receivables represent uncollected personal property taxes. Delinquent taxes remain as a lien on the
property until paid or stricken by the Macomb County Circuit Court.

Special Debt
General Revenue Service

Delinqguent Taxes by Year Total (1) Fund Funds Funds
2002 $ 179,205 $ 141,662 $ 34,872 $ 2,671

2003 219,011 173,661 45,350 -

2004 259,233 205,754 53,479 -

2005 114,978 87,971 27,007 -

2006 146,029 113,466 32,563 -

2007 160,432 126,339 34,093 -

2008 482,747 388,384 94,363 -
1,561,635 1,237,237 321,727 2,671

Less: Allowance for

Uncollectible Taxes (__439,295) (_431,191) (5,433) (2,671)
$1,122,340 $ 806,046 $ 316,294 $ -

(1) Includes delinquent 1% tax administrative fees.

On November 9, 2005 the Warren City Council approved a proposed settlement agreement with DTE Energy in regards to
utility assessments. Under the terms of the agreement, provided the City uses approved State Tax Commission (STC)
multiplier tables for the tax years 2006, 2007 and 2008, DTE Energy will pay personal property taxes for the 1997, 1998,
1999 and 2005 tax years as previously assessed. In addition, effective October 2007 and for the four years thereafter, the
STC will issue an order to strike outstanding personal property taxes for the 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004 tax years.
Approximately $662,000 of delinquent taxes remains to be stricken as of June 30, 2009. Funds will be appropriated in each
budget year as the order to strike is received. These delinquent personal property taxes are reflected as a component of
“Fund Balance — Reserved for Accounts Receivable” in the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet. Conversely, “Delinquent
Taxes Receivable” has been reduced by the amount of this potential write-off in the Statement of Net Assets.

Notes receivable consists primarily of loans made under the Community Development Block Grant's Home Loan
Rehabilitation Program. This program assists low and very low-income residents to afford safe and sanitary housing,
including limited improvements to the property. The largest portion of the $6,291,810 notes outstanding at
June 30, 2009 represents deferred and installment loans. Deferred loans are payable at the end of a set deferral period or
upon change of home ownership, whichever comes first. Installment loans are payable through a series of monthly
payments over a prescribed period of time, not to exceed twenty years. All loans are secured by a mortgage or equity
interest lien. Annual interest rates range from 0% for deferred loans to 4% for installment basis loans.

Interfund receivables, payables and transfers. During the course of its operations, the City has numerous transactions
between funds to finance operations, provide services, construct assets and service debt. To the extent that certain
transactions between funds had not been paid or received as of the fiscal year end, balances are reported as “due to / due
from other funds”. All amounts represented are considered to be current obligations.
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Governmental Funds:
General Fund:

Due from other Governmental Funds:
Michigan Transportation - Major Roads
Michigan Transportation - Local Roads
Community Development Block Grant
HOME Investment Partnership
H.O.P.W.A.

Neighborhood Stabilization Program
D.D.A. Administration Fund
Tax Increment Finance Authority

Due from Proprietary Funds:

Senior Housing — Stilwell Manor
Senior Housing — Jos. Coach Manor
Water and Sewer System (1)

Due from Fiduciary and Agency Funds:
Fire Insurance Withholding
Payroll Revolving Fund
City Employees’ Retirement System (1)
Police and Fire Retirement System (1)
City Employees’ VEBA Trust (1)

Police and Fire VEBA Trust (1)

Community Development Block Grant:
Due from other Governmental Funds:
HOME Investment Partnership

H.O.P.W.A.
Neighborhood Stabilization Program

D.D.A. Administration Fund:
Due from Fiduciary and Agency Funds:
Tax Collection Fund
2008 Capital Imp. Debt Retirement — Roads:
Due from other Governmental Funds:
Capital Imp. Bonds Series 2008 Construction
2008 Capital Imp. Debt Retirement - Sidewalks:
Due from other Governmental Funds:
Capital Imp. Bonds Series 2008 Construction
Building Authority Series 2005 Debt Retirement:
Due from other Governmental Funds:
Building Authority Series 2005 Construction

Total Governmental Funds

Proprietary Funds:
Water and Sewer System (1)
Due from Governmental Funds:
General Fund
Capital Imp. Bonds Series 2006 Cstr.

Senior Housing — Stilwell Manor:
Due from other Proprietary Funds:
Senior Housing — Jos. Coach Manor

Total Proprietary Funds
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Receivable

39,996
435,237
6,907

23,482
277,236
2,210,264

8

152,687
124,474
138,143
4,166,480
4,090,918
11,802,431

10,575
351
4,352

R T1 10T

15,278
2,945
8,640
4,960

14,657

11,848,911

7,540
1,079,210
1,086,750

225

1,086,975
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Governmental Funds:
Michigan Transportation — Major Roads:
Due to other Governmental Funds:
General Fund
Michigan Transportation — Local Roads:
Due to other Governmental Funds:
General Fund
Community Development Block Grant:
Due to other Governmental Funds:
General Fund
HOME Investment Partnership:
Due to other Governmental Funds:
General Fund
Community Development Block Grant

H.O.P.W.A.:
Due to other Governmental Funds:
General Fund
Community Development Block Grant

Neighborhood Stabilization Program:
Due to other Governmental Funds:
General Fund
Community Development Block Grant

D.D.A. Administration Fund:
Due to other Governmental Funds:
General Fund
Capital Imp. Bonds Series 2006 Construction:
D